FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK
(BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements
Year ended October 31,2019
with Independent Auditors® Report




FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements .

October 31, 2019
Contents

Page
Independent AUBITONS” REPOTE couivuririreisetiisierieis e b b s 1
'Alldited' Consolidated Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of FINANCIAl POSIHION «.vevvviovuiveeieee i ieeinieeesereisieies st erssss s s s ness e s s e V7
ConSOlAated SEALEITIENT OF THCOIIE oeveetivirrirrirreeeresirersasessestaseressriassstsibsianessaba e b as s s e e s oo s bbb s Eb Lo s oS b et s bn s r e s s r et et § -
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive INCOME ...ttt o w9
Consolidated Statement of Changes i EQUILY ... bt 10
Consolidated Statement 0F CASH FLOWS w1iviriieeeiiriereeiencrsnee st is s saesbrssae e s s a s b s e ba bbb 11

Notes to the Consolidated FINAncial StalEIMEIIS ... v v e i iisiisresiii it i et s st s 12




Ernst & Young Tel: +242 502 6000
One Montague Place Fax: +242 502 6090
34 Floor ey.com

East Bay Street

Building a better £.0. Box N-3231
working world Nassau, Bahamas

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Shareholders and Directors
FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas)
Limited (the “Bank”) which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at October 31,
2019, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Bank as at October 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors " responsibilities for the audit of
the consalidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Bank in accordance
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’” Codle of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code™), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context,

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globs! Limited
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Expected credit loss allowances

Related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements are included in Note 2.3, Adoption of
new accounting policies, Note 2.4, Sunmary of
significant accounting policies—Impairment of
financial assets, Note 7, Securities, Note 8, Loans
and advances to customers and Note 27, Financial
risk management.

IFRS 9: Financial Instruments uses an expected
credit loss (“ECL™) model which requires
significant  management  judgement  and
incorporation of forward-looking information.
IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record an allowance
for ECLs for all loans and advances to customers
and other financial assets not held at fair value
through profit and loss, together with loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts.
The Bank estimated a total ECL allowance of
$113M as at October 31, 2019.

This is a key audit matter as the estimation of
ECLs is inherently uncertain and requires the
application of judgement and use of subjective
assumptions by management. Furthermore,
models used to determine credit impairments are
complex, and certain inputs used are not fully
observable. Management compensates for any
model and data deficiencies by applying
judgmental overlays to ECL model outputs.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globat Limited

We evaluated the modeiling techniques and
methodologies developed by the Bank in order to
estimate ECLs, and assessed their compliance
with the requirements of IFRS 9.

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of management’s controls over the
process for estimation of ECLs.

We tested the completeness and accuracy of input
data to the models used to determine the ECLs.
We assessed the methodologies and assumptions
applied in determining 12 month and lifetime
probabilities of default (“PD”), loss given default
(“LGD™), exposure at default (“EAD”) and
staging. We assessed external source of data and
assumptions, particularly with respect to forward
looking information (“FLI”) by testing to
independent sources.

We involved our internal financial services risk
management and economics specialists (o
evaluate the methodology for validating models
and analyzing modelling accuracy and
consistency of impairment parameters. They also
assessed the generation of FLI. We used our
internal real estate specialists to access the
methodology used and values obtained for the
third party appraisals for real estate held as
collateral for loans.

We assessed the reasonableness of alf qualitative
adjustments or overlays derived outside of
specific model output.

We assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Goodwill

Related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements are included in Note 2.4, Summary of
significant accounting policies—Goodwill and
Note 11, Goodwill,

Goodwill of $73M represents the excess of the
cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the
identifiable net assets of the acquired subsidiary
and in accordance with International Accounting
Standard 36, management is required to annually
test goodwill for impairment. Goodwill is decmed
to be impaired if the carrying value of a cash
generating unit (“CGU”) is in excess of its
recoverable amount.

This is a key audit malter since impairment
requires significant estimation and judgement
relative to assumptions used for projected cash
flows for CGU (e.g. growth rates, terminal values
and discount rates).

This impairment testing is sensitive to variations

in estimates and assumptions that can result in
significantly different conclusions.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Globsl Limited

We assessed key assumptions used by
management in the determination of cash fiow
projections and discount rates. We compared
these assumptions to historical performance,
growth rates in light of expected future gconomic
conditions and independent sources  of
information.

We evaluated whether the impairment testing
methodology met the  requirements of
International  Accounting  Standard 306,
Impairment of Assets.

We assessed the sensitivity of the assumptions to
reasonable possible changes that could result in
the carrying value of CGU exceeding their
recoverable amount,

We assessed the accuracy of management’s
historic forecasting performance in light of actual
results.

We involved an internal valuation specialist to
assist us in evaluating the reasonableness of the
methodology and  assumptions used by
management in performing the impairment test.

We assessed the adequacy of the refated
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Fair value of investment secur
derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

es and

Related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements are included in Note 2.4, Summary of
significant  accounting policies, Derivative
financial instruments and hedge accounting, Debt
instruments at FVOCI, Equity instruments at
FVOCI, Note 5, Derivative financial instruments,
Note 7, Securities and Note 27, Financial risk
management,

This is a key audit matter due to the complexity of
valuation models used to determine fair value. The
valuation models can be subjective in nature and
involve observable and unobservable data and
various assumptions. These include the valuation
of financial instruments with higher estimation
uncertainty for which observable market prices or
market parameters are not available. The use of
different valuation techniques and assumptions
could result in significantly different estimates of
fair wvalue. Inaccurate application of hedge
accounting rules could result in incorrect
classification and could have a significant impact
on the statement of comprehensive income. The
associated risk management disclosure is also
complex and dependent upon high quality data.

We assessed and tested the design and operating
effectiveness of management’s controls over the
investment securities valuation process and
monthly hedge effectiveness ensuring all hedge
accounting criteria were met and in compliance
with 1AS 39 (IFRS 9 for hedge accounting
deferred),

We reviewed the market prices applied to the
Bank’s debt securities by comparing the prices
used to an independent external source.

We involved internal valuation specialists to
assess the fair value of investment securities
which did not have observable market prices. We
also involved internal valuation specialists who
tested the reasonableness of hedge effectiveness
and the fair value of all derivatives held by the
Bank.

We assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Amember firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Bank ar to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report
that includes our opinion, Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists,
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expecied to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

«  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control.

» Evalvate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriatencss of management’s use of the poing concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern,
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
repoit to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Amermber fiem of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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«  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We comimunicate with the management and the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit. ‘

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with management and the Audit Committee, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such conumusication.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is LaNishka F. McSweeney.

St

January 28, 2020

A member firm of Erpst & Yeung Global Limited
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FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT OCTOBER 31
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

2019 2018

Notes 8 $
ASSETS
Cash and balances with The Central Bank 3 159,489 166,113
Due from banks 4 433,985 409,997
Derivative financial instruments 5 49 647
Other assets 6 19,680 18,257
Securities 7 036,576 782,708
Loans and advances to customers 8 2,023,654 2,001,401
Property and equipment 9 30,593 29,578
Retirement benefit assets 10 28,483 18,179
Goodwill i1 72,747 72,747
Total assets 3,705,256 3,499,627
LIABILITIES
Derivative financial instruments 5 273 5,784
Customer deposits 12 2,903,742 2,762,770
Other liabilities 13 62,053 65,945
Retirement benefit obligations ' 10 15,616 12,560
Total liabilities 2,981,684 2,847,059
EQUITY
Issued capital 14 477,230 477230
Reserves 14 19,810 (6,627)
Retained earnings 226,532 181,965
Total equity 723,572 652,568
Total liabilities and equity 3,705,256 3,499,627

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial stafements.

Approved by the Board of Directors on January 28, 2020, and signed on its behalf by:

Ao Lo, k7>

Managing Director Director



TIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31

(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars, except as noted)

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Net interest income
Operating income

Operating expenses
Credit loss expense on financial assets

Net income for the year

Basic and diluted earnings per share
(expressed in cents per share)

The accompanying noles are an intégral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Nofes

15
16

17
7,8

18

2019 2018

s $
169,968 158,067
13,172 10,031
156,796 148,036
48,619 40,086
205,415 188,122
106,524 90,977
4,515 12,085
111,039 103,062
94,376 85,060
78.5 70.8




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
" FOR THE YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

2019 2018
Notes $ 3
Net income for the year 94,376 85,060
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to
net income or loss in subsequent periods:
Net gains/(losses) on debt securities at fair value through
0CI 20 10,866 (4,164)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be
reclassified to net income or loss in subsequent periods 10,866 (4,164)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be
reclassified to net income or loss in subsequent periods:
Re-measurement gains/(losses) on retirement benefit
plans 10 9,042 (2,043)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be
reclassified to net income or loss in subsequent periods 9,042 (2,043)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 19,908 (6,207)
Comprehensive income for the year 114,284 78,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Issued Retained Total

capital Reserves  earnings equity

Notes $ $ $ 3

_ Balance at October 31, 2017 477,230 {13,194) 229,108 693,144
Impact of adopting IFRS 9 at November 1,

2017 - 10,108 (23,746)  {(13,638)
Ralance at November 1, 2017 after adopting ‘

IFRS 9 471,230 (3,086) 205,362 679,506
Net income for the year - - 85,060 85,060
Other comprehensive loss for the year - (6,207) - (6,207)
Total comprehensive income - (6,207) 85,060 78,853
Dividends 19 - - (105,791) (105,791)
Transfer to statutory reserve fund —

Turks & Caicos Islands 14 - 2,666 (2,666) -
Balance at October 31, 2018 477,230 {6,627) 181,965 652,568
Net income for the year - - 94,376 94,376
Other comprehensive income for the year - 19,908 - 19,908
Total comprehensive income - 19,908 94,376 114,284
Dividends 19 - - (43,280)  (43,280)
Transfer to statutory reserve fund — < .

Turks & Caicos Islands 14 - 6,529 {6,529) -
Balance at October 31, 2019 ' 477,230 - 19,810 256,532 723,572

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statenents.

10




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED OCTOBER 31
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

2019 2018
Notes b3 _ 5
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income for the year 94,376 85,060
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from
operating activities
Credit loss expense on financial assets 7,8 4,515 12,085
Depreciation of property and equipment 9 4,021 4,562
Net losses on write-off of property and equipment 9 370 -
Net gains on disposals and redemption of securities 16 - (498)
Net hedging losses/(gains) 5 29 (259)
Interest income earned on investment securities 15 (28,076) (24,822)
Interest expense incurred on derivative financial instruments 15 131 860
Net cash flows from operating income before changes in
operating assets and liabilities 75,366 76,988
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
- net decrease in due from banks greater than 90 days 4 5,261 52,154
- net increase in mandatory reserves with
The Cenfral Bank 3 (3,812) {173)
- net (increase)/decrease in loans and advances to customers (23,080) 47,725
- net increase in other assets (11,129) (854)
- net increase in customer deposits 140,972 11,922
- net increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 18,136 (10,711)
Net cash from operating activities 201,714 177,051
_ Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment 9 (5,406) (6,165)
Purchases of investment securities 7 {976,229) (821,799)
Proceeds from disposals and redemption of securities 7 832,523 829,701
Interest income received on investment securities 26,320 25,797
Interest expense paid on derivative financial instruments (1,469} (1,344)
Net cash (used in)/from investing activities (124,261} 26,190
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid (58,640) (87,886)
Net eash used in financing activities (58,640) (87,886)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 18,813 115,355
Cash aud cash equivalents, beginning of year 494,192 378,837
Cash and cashk equivalents, end of ycar 3 513,005 494,192

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Tor the year ended October 31,2019
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

1. Corporate Information

FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas) Limited (the “Bank”) was formerly named CIBC Bahamas
Limited (“CIBC Bahamas™”) and was coniroiled by Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (CIBC), a
company incorporated in Canada. The Bank changed its name to FirstCaribbean International Bank
(Bahamas) Limited on October 11, 2002, following the combination of the retail, corporate and offshore
banking opetations of Barclays Bank PLC in The Bahamas and the Turks & Caicos Islands (“Barclays
Bahamas”) and CIBC Bahamas. The Bank is incorporated in The Commonwealth of The Baliamas and is
licensed to carry on banking and other related activities.

The Bank is a subsidiary of FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited (the “Parent” or “FCIB”), a compary
incorporated and domiciled in Barbados, which owns 05.2% of the Bank. The Parent and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Parent Group”) is ovined by CIBC (the “Ultimate Parent”), a company incorporated in
Canada. From October 11, 2002, the major shareholders of FirstCaribbean International Bank (Bahamas)
Limited were jointly CIBC and Barclays Bank PLC, (“Barclays™), a company incorporated in England. On
December 22, 2006, CIBC acquired Barclays® interest in the Parent and now owns 91.7% of the shares of
FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited.

The registered office of the Bank is located at the FirstCaribbean Financial Centre, 2nd Floor, Shirley Street,
Nassau, The Bahamas. The Bank is listud on the Bahamas International Securities Exchange (“BISX™).

These consolidated financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on January
28, 2020. The Board of Directors has the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issue,

if required.

2. Basis of Preparation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for debt
instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCT”), financial assets and liabilities at
fair value through the profit or loss and derivative financial instruments, which have all been measured at
fair value. The carrying values of recognised assets that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and otherwise
carried at amortised cost, are adjusted to record changes in fair value attributable to the risks that are being
hedged. The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahamian dollars, and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except where otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements provide comparative information in respect of the previous period. In
addition, the Bank presents an additional statement of financial position at the beginning of the earliest period
ijresented when there is a retrospective epplication of an accounting policy, a retrospective restatement, or a
reclassification of items in the financial statements.

12




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATTIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31, 2019
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of the Bank have been prepared in accordance with International Financial’
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™).

Basis of consolidation -

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at October
31, 2019 (the “reporting date”). The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepated for the same reporting year
as the Bank, using consistent accounting policies.

Subsidiaries
All subsidiaries, which are those companies controlled by the Bank, have been fully consolidated. The principal
subsidiaries of the Bank are disclosed in Note 28. ’

Control is achieved when the Bank is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Bank controls an
investee if and only if the Bank has: 1) Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the refevant activities of the investee); 2) Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee; and 3) The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Bank has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Bank considers all relevant
facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: 1) The contractual arrangement
with the other vote holders of the investee; 2) Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 3) The Bank’s
voting rights and potential voting ri ghts.

The Bank re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Bank obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Bank loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the
date the Bank gains control until the date the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

All inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transactions and balances have been.
eliminated.

13




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31, 2019 _
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

2.2 Significant accounting judgments and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with [FRS requires management to make certain significant
judgments and estimates that affect amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes, Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Other disclosures relating to the Bank’s exposure to risks and uncertainties include:
o Capital management — Note 14
e Financial risk management and policies — Note 27
e Sensitivity analysis disclosures — Notes 10, 11, 27

The estimates and judgments that have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Impairment losses on financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses across all categories of financial assets requires judgment, in particular, the
estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses
and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. T hese estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes
in which can result in different levels of allowances.

The Bank’s expected credit loss (“ECL”) calculations are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying
assumptions regarding the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. Elements of the ECL models that are
considered accounting judgments and estimates include:
«  The Bank’s internal credit grading model, which assigns Probable Defaults (“PDs”) to the individual
grades
+  The Bank’s criteria for assessing if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, and so
allowances for financial assets should be measured on a Lifetime ECL (“LTECL”) basis and the
qualitative assessment
+  The segmentation of financial ‘assets when their ECL is assessed on a collective basis
. Development of ECL models, including the various formulas and the choice of inputs
«  Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and economic inputs, such as
unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs, Exposure at Default (“EAD”) and
Loss Given Defaults (“LGD”) :
. Selection of forward-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightings, to derive
the economic inputs into the ECL models

Tt has been the Bank’s policy to regularly review its models in the context of actual loss experience and adjust when
necessary.

14-




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31,2019
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Retirement benefit obligations

Accounting for some retirement benefit obligations requires the use of actuarial techniques to make a reliable estimate
of the amount of benefits that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods. These
actuarial assumptions are based on management’s best estimates of the variables that will determine the ultimate cost
of providing post-employment benefits and comprise both demographic and financial assumptions. This includes’
assumptions about discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, future salary increases, mortality rates and future
pension increases. Variations in the financial assumptions can cause material adjustments in future years, if it is
determined that the actual experience differed from the estimate.

In determining the appropriate discount rafe, management considers the interest rates of government bonds, in the
absence of corporate bonds, in currencies consistent with the currencies of the post-employment benefit obligation
with at least an ‘AA’ rating or above, as set by an internationally acknowledged rating agency, and extrapolated as
needed along the yield curve to correspond with the expected term of the defined benefit obligation. The mortality rate
is based on publicly available mortality tables. Future salary increases and pension increases are based on expected
future inflation rates. Further details about pension obligations are given in Note 10. :

Taxes

Income taxes :
The Bank is not subject to income taxes in The Bahamas and the Turks and Caicos Islands.

Value Added Tax (VAT)

Effective January 1, 2015, the Government of The Commonwealth of The Bahamas implemented a value added tax
(VAT). VAT is an indirect tax which is considered a broadly based consumption tax charged on the value added to

. goods and services. It applies to almost all goods and services that are imported, bought and sold for use or-

consumption. Conversely, exported goodls and services supplied to customers abroad are exempted or zero-rated.
Effective July 1, 2018, the VAT rate was increased from 7.5% to 12%. The Company is a VAT registrant.

Goodwill

In accordance with International Accounting Standards (“IAS™) 36, goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
using the “value in use” method. This requires the use of estimates for determination of future cash flows expected to
arise from each cash-generating unit and an appropriate discount rate to calculate present value.

Going concern

The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied.
that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foresecable future. Furthermore, management is not
aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going
concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

15




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31,2019
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

2.3 Adoption of new accounting policies

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year with the exception of those
impacted by new and amended standards and interpretations,

New and amended standards and interpretations

In these consolidated financial statements, the Bank adopted [FRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
(IFRS 15) as at November 1, 2018 in place of prior guidance, including IAS 18 “Revenue” (IAS 18) and IFRIC 13
“Customer Loyalty Programmes” (IFRIC 13). The nature and the impact of the new standards is described below.

Several other amendments and interprefations apply for the first time in 2019, but did not have an impact on the
consolidated financial statements. The Bank has not adopted early any standards, interpretations or amendments that’
have been issued but are not yet effective.

1IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
The Bank adopted IFRS 15 as at November 1, 2018 on a modified retrospective basis with no effect on the Bank’s
financial position and performance.

The new guidance includes a five-step, principles-based recognition and measurement approach, as well as
requirements for accounting for contract cost, and enhanced quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements. The
application of this guidance involves the use of judgement. IFRS 15 excludes from its scope revenue related to financial
instruments, lease contracts and insurance contracts. As a result, the majority of the Bank’s revenue was not impacted
by the adoption of this standard, including net interest income, net gains/(losses) from financial instruments
measured/designated at FVTPL and net gains/({losses) from debt securities measured at FVOCL

Based on the Bank’s assessment, there were either no measurement differences or measurement differences that were
not considered material on adopting IFRS 15.

There were no updates to the fees and commission income or to the customer loyalty programmes accounting policies
{(Note 2.4) because of this change.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are st out

below.

Foreign currency translation
The consolidated financial statements are plcsented in Bahamian dollars, which is the Bank’s functional and

presentational currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are mltml y recorded by the Bank at the functional currency rates prevailing at the
date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at rates prevailing at the reporting date and non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated at
historic rates. Revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the Bank’s functional
currency using prevailing average monthly exchange rates. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on foreign
currency positions are reported in income of the current year. Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as
equities classified as debt securities at FVOCI, are included in the debt securities revaluation reserve in equity.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The Bank uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to manage
its foreign currency risks and interest rate risks, respectively. Such defivative financial instruments are initially
recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at
fair value.

Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value
is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated statement
of income, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges, which is recognised in other comprehensive income, -

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
e Fairvalue hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or
an unrecognised firm commitment (except for foreign currency risk).

e Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows that is either atiributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign
currency risk in an unrecognised firin commitment,

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Bank formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which
the Bank wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.
The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the
risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. Such
hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed
at inception and on a monthly basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial
reporting periods for which they were designated. A hedge is considered to be highly effective if the changes in fair
value of cash flows attributable to the hedged risk are expected to be offset by the hedging instrument in a range of
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80% to 125%. Hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

e Differences in timing of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments

o Different interest rate curves applied to discount the hedged items and hedging instruments

¢ Derivatives used as hedging instruments having a non-nil factor value at the time of designation

e+ The effect of changes in counterparties’ credit risk on the fair values of hedging instruments or hedged items

Hedges which meet the Bank’s strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

o Fair value hedge
For hedging relationships which arc designated and qualify as fair value hedges and that prove to be highly
effective in relation to the hedged risk, chianges in the fair value of the derivatives are recorded in the consolidated
statement of income, along with the corresponding change in fair value of the hedged asset or liability that is
attributable to that specific hedged risk. .

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria’ for hedge accounting, an adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged
interest-bearing financial instrument is amortised to net profit or loss over the remaining period to maturity.

e Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
are recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of income. Anmounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are
recycled to the consolidated statement of income in the periods in which the hedged item will affect profit or loss
(for example, when the forecast sale that.is hedged takes place). When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or
when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in other-
comprehensive income at that time remains in other comprehensive income and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in the consolidated statement of income. When a forecast transaction is no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in other comprehensive income is
immediately transferred to the consolidated statement of income. As at October 31, 2019, the Bank did not have
hedge relationships classified as cash flow hedges.

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not so designated, and changes in the fair
value of these derivatives are included in net trading gains or losses within operating income.

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense are recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR) method for all financial instruments
measured at amortised cost, and financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL.”). Interest
income on interest bearing financial assets measured at FVOC! under IFRS 9, is also recorded by using the EIR
method. The EIR is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. When
calculating the ETR, we estimate future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument, but
not future credit losses.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the asset) is caleulated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition, fees and costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The Bank recognises interest income using a rate of’
return that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, it
recognizes the effect of potentially different interest rates charged at various stages, and other characteristics of the
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product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and charges). If expectations regarding the cash flows on
the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is booked as a positive or negative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset in the balance sheet with an increase or reduction in inferest income.
The adjustment is subsequently amortised through Interest and similar income in the statement of income.

The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other than
credit-impaired assets.

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired (as set out in Note 8) and s, therefore, regarded as ‘Stage 3°, the Bank
calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the financial asset. If the
financial asset cures (as outlined in Note 8) and is no longer credit-impaired, the Bank reverts to calculating interest
income on a gross basis. ,

Interest income on financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at FVPL is recognised using the contractual
interest rate,

Fee and commission income :

The recognition of fee and commission income is determined by the purpose of the fee or commission and the terms
specified in the contract with the customer. Revenue is recognised when, or as, a performance obligation is satisfied
by transferring control of the service to the customer, in the amount of the consideration to which we expect to be
entitled. Revenue may therefore be recognised at a point in time upon completion of the service or over time as the.
services are provided. When revenue is recognised over time, we are generally required to provide the services each
period and we therefore measure our progress towards completion of the service based upon the time elapsed. When
another party is involved in providing a service to a customer, we determine whether the nature of our performance
obligation is that of a principal or an agent. If we control the service before it is transferred to the customer, we are
acting as the principal and present revenuc separately from the amount paid to the other party; otherwise we are the
agent and present revenue net of the amount paid to the other party. Income which forms an integral part of the effective
interest rate of a financial instrument continues to be recognised as an adjustment to the effective inferest rate.

Underwriting and advisory fees are earned on debt and equity securities placements and transaction-based advisory
services. Underwriting fees are typically recognised at the point in time when the transaction is completed. Advisory-
fees are generally recognised as revenue over the period of the engagement as the related services are provided or at
{he point in time when the fransaction is completed.

Deposit services fees arise from personal and business deposit accounts and cash management services. Monthly and
annual fees are recognised over the period that the related services are provided. Transactional fees are recognised at
the point in time the related services are provided.

Credit services fees consist of loan syndication fees, loan commitment fees, negotiation & collection fees, credit
advisory fees, letters of credit and guarantees & bonds fees. Credit fees are generally recognised over the period that
the related services are provided, except for loan syndication fees, which are typically recognised at the point in time-
that the financing placement is completed. Letters of credit and guarantees & bonds fees are charged annually and
cover a one year period starting on the date that the contract was first issued.

Card fees primarily include interchange income, over limit fees, cash advance fees, and annual fees. Card fees are
recognised at the point in time the related services are provided, except for annual fees, which are recognised over the

19




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31, 2019
(Txpressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

[2-month period to which they relate. The cost of credit card loyalty points is recognised as a reduction of interchange
income when the loyalty points are issued for both self-managed and third-party loyalty points programs. Credit card
loyalty point liabilities are recognised for self-managed loyalty point programs and arc subject to periodic re-
measurement to reflect the expected cost of redemption as this expectation changes over time.

[nvestment management fees (reported as part of underwriting fees in Note 16) are primarily based on the respective
value of the assets under management (AUM) or assets under administration (AUA) and are recognised over the period
that the related services are provided. Investment management fees are generally calculated based on point-in-time

AUM and AUA balances. Custodial fees are recognised as revenue over the applicable service period, which is-

generally the contract term.

Customer loyally programmes

The Bank offers customer loyalty programmes through its Credit Card products. A portion of the net fee revenues are
deferred in relation to award credits under customer loyalty programmes as a separately identifiable revenue
component. The amount deferred represents the fair value of the award credits and is recognised when the awards are
utilised or are expired.

Financial instruments: initial recognition

Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to customers,
are initially recognised on the settlement date, which is the date that an asset is delivered to or by the Bank. This
includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. Loans and advances to customers are recognised
when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Bank recognises balances due to customers when funds
are transferred to the Bank. '

Initial measurement of financial instruments

The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business
model! for managing the instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at their fair value except in the case
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL. Transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this
amount. Trade receivables are measured at the transaction price. When the fair value of financial instruments at initial
recognition differs from the transaction price, the Bank accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

Day 1 profit or loss
When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a

valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognises the difference between’

the transaction price and fair value in net trading income. In those cases where fair value is based on models for which
some of the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaction price and the fair value is deferred and
is only recognised in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.
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Measurement categories of financial asseis and liabilities
From November 1, 2018, the Bank classifies all of its financial assets based on the business model for managing the
assets and the asset’s contractual terms, measured at either:

+ Amortised cost

« FVOCI

« FVPL

The Bank classifies and measures its derivative and trading portfolio at FVPL as explained in the summary of
significant accounting policies. The Bank may designate financial instruments at FVPL, if so doing eliminates or
significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies.

Financial assets and labilities

Dute from banks, Loans and advances to customers, Financial investments at amortised cost

The Bank only measures Due from banks, Loans and advances to customers and other financial investments at

amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

+  The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
confractual cash flows

+  The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding

The details of these conditions are outlined below.

Business model assessment

The Bank determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve its business objective. '

The Bank’s business model is not assessed on an instrument-by-instrument basis, but at a higher level of aggregated
portfolios and is based on observable factors such as:

« How the performance of the business mode! and the financial assets held within that business mode! are evaluated
and reported to the entity’s key management personnel

« The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business
model) and, in particular, the way those risks are managed

+ How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected)

« The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank’s assessment

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking “worst case’ or ‘stress case’
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in & way that is different from the Bank’s
original expectations, the Bank does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held in that business
model, but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial asscts going
forward.
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The SPPI test
As a second step of its classification process, the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial instroments

to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

“Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition
and may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or
amortisation of the premiuny/ discount).

The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for
the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies judgment and
considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period
for which the interest rate is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the
financial asset is required to be measured at FVPL.

Derivatives recorded at fuir vaiue through profif or loss
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

« Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commeodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract
(i.e., the ‘underlying’).

« It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts expected to have a stmilar response to changes in market factors.

» It is settled at a future date.

The Bank enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These may include interest rate
swaps, futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options
on interest rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives dre recorded at fair value and carried as assets
when their fair value is positive and as liabilities when their fair value is negative. The notional amount and
fair value of such derivatives are disclosed separately in Note 5. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are
included in net trading income unless hedge accounting is applied. Hedge accounting disclosures are
provided in Note 5.

Debt instruments at FVOCI .
The Bank applies the category of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following

conditions are met:
« The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets
+ The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test
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EVOCI debt instruments are subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses arising due to changes
in fair value recognised in OCI. Interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The ECL calculation
. for debt instruments at FVOCT is shown in Note 7. Where the Bank holds more than one investment in the
same security, they are deemed to be disposed of on a first—in first-out basis. On derecognition, cumulative
gains or losses previously recognised in'OCI are reclassified from OCI to profit or loss.

Equity instruments at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Bank occasionally elects to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments
as cquity instruments at FVOCL wheén they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 F inancial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-
‘by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
*in profit or loss as other operating income when the right of the payment has been established, except when
the Bank benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which case, such
gains are recorded in OCL Equity instruments at FVOCT are not subject to an impairment assessment.

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets and financial Habilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been
either designated by management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value under IFRS 9. Management only designates an instrument at FVPL upon initial recognition when one
of the following criteria is met. Such designation is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis:

¢ The designation eliminates, or significantly reduces, the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise
arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis,
or

o The liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities, which are managed and their performance
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment
strategy, or

e The liabilities contains one or more embedded derivatives, unless they do not significantly modify the
cash flows that would otherwise be required by the contract, or it is clear with little or no analysis when
a similar instrument is first considered, that separation of the embedded derivative(s) is prohibited.

Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recorded in profit and loss with the exception of movements
in fair value of liabilities designated at FVPL due to changes in the Bank’s own credit risk. Such changes
in fair value are recorded in the Own credit reserve through OCI and do not get recycled to the profit or loss.
Interest earned or incurred on instruments designated at FVPL is accrued in interest income or interest
expense, respectively, using the EIR, taking into account any discount/ premium and qualifying fransaction
costs being an integral part of instrument. Interest earned on assets mandatorily required to be measured at
FVPL is recorded using contractual interest rate as explained in Note 5. Dividend income from equity
instruments measured at FVPL is recorded in profit or loss as other operating income when the right to the
payment has been established.
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Financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commiitments

The Bank issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commifments. Financial guarantees are
initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the premium received.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the higher of the
amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated statement of income,
and an ECL allowance.

The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of income in fees and commission income
on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantes.

Undrawn [oan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Bank is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer. These contracts
are in the scope of the ECL requirements and attract allowances based on credit quality.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments,
where the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The nominal values of these instruments together with the corresponding ECLs are
disclosed in Note 8.

The Bank occasionally issues loan commitments at below market interest rates drawdown. Such
commitments are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount of the ECL allowance and the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income recognised as outlined in Note
8. '

Reclassification of financial assets and liabilities

The Bank does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition, apart from the
exceptional circumstances in which the Bank acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line. Financial
liabilities are never reclassified. The Bank did not reclassify any of its financial assets or liabilities in 2019.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Derecognition due 1o substantial modification of terms and conditions

The Bank derecognises a financial asset, such as a loan to a customer, when the terms and conditions have
been renegotiated to the extent that, substantially, it becomes a new loan, with the difference recognised as
a derecognition gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded. The newly
recognised loans are classified as Stage 1 for ECL measurement purposes, unless the new loan is deemed to
be purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI).

When assessing whether or not to derecognise a loan to a customer, amongst others, the Bank considers
the following factors:

* Change in currency of the loan

» Introduction of an equity feature

+ Change in counterparty
If the modification is such that the instrument would no longer meet the SPPI criterion

If the modification does not result in cash flows that are substantially different, the modification does not
result in derecognition, Based on the change in cash flows discounted at the originat EIR, the Bank records
a modification gain or loss, to the extent that an impairment loss has not already been recorded.
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Derecognition other than for substantial inodification

Financial assets :

A financial asset {or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets)
is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired. The Bank also
derccognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial asset and the transfer qualifies for
derecognition.

The Bank has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either:
« The Bank transfers its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset, or
e Ii retains the right to the cash flows, but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement.

Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Bank retains the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows of a financial asset (the ‘original asset’), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash
flows to one or more entities (the ‘eventual recipients’), when all of the following three conditions are met:

« The Bank has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected equivalent
amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates.

« The Bank cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients.

o The Bank has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material
delay. In addition, the Bank is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash
or cash equivalents including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date
of required remittance to the eventual recipients.

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either:
 The Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or
e The Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

The Bank considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferce has the practical ability to sell the
asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without
imposing additional restrictions on the transfer.

When the Bank has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has retained
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognised only to the extent of the Bank’s continuing
involvement, in which case, the Bank also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Bank has
refained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration the Bank could be
required to pay.

If continuing involvement takes the form of a written or purchased option (or both) on the transferred asset,
the continuing involvement is measured at the value the Bank would be required to pay upon repurchase. In
the case of a written put option on an asset that is measured at fair value, the extent of the entity’s continuing
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise price.
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Financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the lability is discharged, cancelled, or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The
difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is
recognized in profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

Overview of the ECL principles

The Bank records allowance for expected credit losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held
at FVPL, together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, in this section all referred to as
‘financial instruments’. Equity instruments are not subject to impairment under TFRS 9.

‘The ECL allowance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life of the asset (the lifetime
expected credit loss or LTECL), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since origination,
in which case, the allowance is based on the 12 months’ expected credit loss (12mECL) as outlined in Note
8. The Bank’s policies for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk are set out in
Note 2.3.

The 12mECL is the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

Both LTECLs and 12mECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective basis, depending on
the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

The Bank has established a policy to perform an assessment, at the end of each reporting period, of
whether a financial instrument’s credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial nstrument.
This is further explained in Note 27.

Bascd on the above process, the Bank groups its loans into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POC], as described
below:

» Stage 1: When loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on 12mECLs. Stage
1 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved and the loan has been reclassified from
Stage 2.

+ Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records
an allowance for the LTECLs. Stage 2 loans also include facilities where the credit risk has improved
and the loan has been reclassified from Stage 3.

+ Stage 3: Loans considered credit-impaired (as outlined in Note 8). The Bank records an allowance for
the LTECLs.

+ POCI: Purchased or originated credit impaired (POCI) assets are financial assets that are credit impaired
o initial recognition. POCI assets are recorded at fair value at original recognition and interest income
is subsequently recognised based on a credit-adjusted EIR. ECLs are only recognised or released to the
extent that there is a subsequent change in the expected credit losses.
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For financial assets for which the Bank has no reasonable expectations of recovering either the entire
outstanding amount, or a proportion thereof, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced. This
is considered a (partial) derecognition of the financial asset.

The calculation of ECLs

The Bank calculates ECLs based on probability-weighted scenarios to measure the expected cash shortfalls,
discounted at an approximation to the EIR. A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash flows that
are due to an entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

+ PD - The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a certain-time over the assessed period, if the facility has not been previously
derecognised and is still in the portfolio. The concept of PDs is further explained in Note 27.

+ EAD - The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued
interest from missed payments. The EAD is further explained in Note 27.

+ LGD - The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between the confractual cash flows due and those that the lender
would expect to receive, including from the realisation of any collateral. It is usually expressed as a
percentage of the EAD. The LGD i further explained in Note 27.

With the exception of credit cards and other revolving facilities, the maximum period for which the credit
losses are determined is the contractual life of a financial instrument unless the Bank has the legal right to
call it earlier.

The mechanics of the ECL method are summarised below:
 Stage 1: The 1ZmECL is calculated as the portion of LTECLs that represent the ECLs that result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.
The Bank calculates the 12ZmECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12
manths following the reporting date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a
forecast EAD and multiplied by the expected LGD and discounted by an approximation to the original
EIR.

« Stage 2: When a loan has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Bank records
an allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, but PDs are
estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected cash shortfalls are discounted by an
approximation to the original EIR.

+ Stage 3: For loans considered credit-impaired, the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses
for these loans. The method is similar to that for Stage 2 assets, with the PD set at 100%.

+ POCT assets: Financial assets that are credit impaired on initial recognition. The Bank only recognises
the cumulative changes in lifetime ECLs since initial recognition, based on probability-weighting
scenarios, discounted by the credit adjusted EIR.

27




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31,2019 -
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

« Loan commitments and letters of credit: When estimating 12mECL for undrawn loan commitments, the
Bank applies the PD and LGD to the undrawn amount, and this amount is discounted at an approximation
to the expected EIR on the loan.

For credit cards and revolving facilities that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment, ECLs are
calculated and presented together with the loan. For loan commitments and letters of credit, the ECL is
recognised within Provisions.

+ Financial guarantee contracts: The Bank estimates ECLs by applying the PD and L.GD to the exposure,
and this amount is discounted at an approximation to the interest rate relevant to the exposure. The
ECLs related to financial guarantee contracts are recognised within credit loss on financial assets.

Tn circumstances where The Central Bauk of the Bahamas’ (“The Central Bank”) guidelines and regulatory
rules require provisions in excess of those calculated under IFRS, the difference is disclosed as an
appropriation of retained earnings and is included in a non-distributable general banking reserve.

Debt instruments measured at fair value through OCI

The ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial
assets in the consolidated siatement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount
equal to the allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI
as an accumulated impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss. The accumulated loss
recognised in OCI is regycled to the protit and loss upon derecognition of the assets.

Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets (POCI)
For POCI financial assets, the Bank only recognises the cumulative changes in LTECL since initial
recognition in the loss allowance.

Credit cards and other revolving facilities

The Bank’s product offering includes a variety of corporate and retail overdraft and credit cards facilities, in
which the Bank has the right to cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day’s notice. The Bank does not
limit its exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over a period
that reflects the Bank’s expectations of the customer behaviour, its likelihood of defauit and the Bank’s
future risk mitigation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelling the facilities.

The ongoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving facilities
is similar to other lending products. This is based on shifts in the customer’s internal credit grade or history
of delinquency, as explained in Note 27, but greater emphasis is also given to qualitative factors such as
changes in usage.

The calculation of ECLs, inciuding the estimation of the expected period of exposure and discount rate is

made, as explained in Note 27, on a collective basis for corporate and retail products. The collective
assessments are made separately for portfolios of facilities with similar credit risk characteristics.
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Forward looking information
In its ECL models, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward looking information as cconomic inputs,
such as: :

+ GDP growth .

» Consumer price index and inflation

« Inferest rates ’

For the majority of our loan portfolios, our forecast of forward-looking information variables is established

from a “base case” or most likely scenario. In forming the “base case™ scenario, we consider the forecasts of

monetary authorities such as the International Monetary Fund (IMF), World Bank and local

regulatory/statutory bodies. We then derive reasonably possible “upside case” and “downside case”

scenatios using the historical performance of variables that are above and below our “base case” along with
b1

the application of management judgment. A probability weighting is assigned to our “base case”, upside
case” and “downside case” scenarios based on management judgment.

The inputs and models used for calculating ECLs may not always capture all characteristics of the market at
the date of the consolidated financial statements. To reflect this, qualitative adjustments or overlays are
occasionally made as temporary adjustments when such differences are significantly material. The use of
management overlays requires the application of significant expert judgment that may impact on the amount
and timing of the ECL allowance being recognized. As such, overlays are continuously reviewed for
relevance and accuracy. '

Colateral valuation

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Bank seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral
comes in various forms, such as cash, securitics, letters of credit/guarantees, real estate, receivables,
inventories, other non- financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral,
unless repossessed, is not recorded on the Bank’s consolidated statement of financial position. However,
the fair value of collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. Tt is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception
and re-assessed on a quarterly basis. Details of the impact of the Bank’s various credit enhancements are
disclosed in Note 8.

The Bank’s credit risk management policies include requirements relating to collateral valuation and
management, including verification requirements and legal certainty. Valuations are updated periodically
depending upon the nature of the collateral. Management monitors the market value of collateral and
requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement during its periodic review of loan
accounts in arrears. Policies are in place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in the

collateral supporting the Bank’s credit exposure.

Collateral repossessed

The Bank’s policy is to determine whether a repossessed asset can be best used for its internal operations or
should be sold. Assets determined to be useful for the internal operations are transferred to their relevant
asset category at the lower of their repossessed value or the carrying value of the original secured asset.
Assets for which selling is determined to be a better option are transferred to assets held for sale at their fair
value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost (o sell for non-financial assets at the repossession date, in
line with the Bank’s policy.
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In its normal course of business, the Bank does not physically repossess properties or other assets in its retail
portfolio, but engages external agents torecover funds, generally at auction, to settle outstanding debt. Any
surplus funds are returned to the customers/obligors. As a result of this practice, the residential properties
under legal repossession processes are not recorded on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Write-offs -

Financial assets are written off either partially or in their entirety only when the Bank has stopped pursuing
the recovery. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference
is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross carrying amount, Any
subsequent recoveries are credited to credit loss expense.

Forborne and maditfied loans :

The Bank sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of
collateral. The Bank considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a
result of the borrower’s present or expected financial difficulties and the Bank would not have agreed to
them if the borrower had been financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include defaults on
covenants, or significant concerns raised by the Credit Risk Department.

Forbearance may involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement of new loan conditions.
Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated
before the modification of terms, It is the Bank’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future
payments continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and
Stage 3 are determined on a case-by-case basis. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a loan, it is
disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off.

When the loan has been renegotiated or modified but not derecognised, the Bank also reassesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk, as set out in Note 27. The Bank also considers whether
the assets should be classified as Stage 3. Once an asset has been classified as forborne, it will remain
forborne for a minimum probation period according to the regulatory rules in The Bahamas and the TCL

In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the
following criteria: '

« All of its facilities have to be considered performing

+ The probation period has passed from the date the forborne contract was considered performing

+ Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during
at least half of the probation period

+ The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due

Details of forborne assets are disclosed in Note 27. If modifications are substantial, the loan is derecognised.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of

financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
of the acquired subsidiary undertaking at the date of acquisition and is reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment at third quarter, or when circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired, and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units) for the purpose of impairment testing. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation, with the exception of land
which is not depreciated. Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Land and buildings comprise mainly of branches and offices. Subsequent costs are included in
the asset’s carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the ifem will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of income
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method at rates considered
adequate to write-off the cost of depreciable assets, less salvage, over their useful lives.

The annual rates used are:

- Buildings 2%
- Leasehold improvements ‘ 10% or over the life of the lease
- Equipment, furniture and vehicles 20 —50%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each annual reporting date and are
adjusted if appropriate.

Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of an
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the value
in use.

Gains and losses on disposal of propetty and equipment are determined by reference to ifs carrying amount
and are taken into account in determining net income.

Leases
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term and
included in the consolidated statement of income,

When assets are held subject to a finance lease, the present value of the lease payments is recognised as a
receivable. The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the recetvable is recognised
as unearned finance income. Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the effective interest
method, which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.
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Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are financial contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with
the ariginal or modified terms of a debt instrument. '

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Bank that are not classified as insurance contracts are initially
recognised as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issuance of the guarantees, which is generally the premium received or receivable on the date the guarantee
was given. Subsequently, financial guarantee liabilities are measured at the higher of the initial fair value,
less cumulative amortisation, and the present value of any expected payment when a payment under the
guarantee has become probable. A financial guarantce that qualifies as a derivative is re-measured at fair
value as at each reporting date and reported as derivative instruments in assets or liabilities, as appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances
with less than 90 days maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash balances, non-restricted deposits
with The Central Bank (excluding mandatory reserve deposits), treasury bills and other money market
placements.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events, it is more than likely that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Retirement benefit obligations

Pension obligations

The Bank operates a pension plan, the assets of which are held in a separate trustec-administered fund. The
pension plan is funded by payments from employees and the Bank, taking account of the recommendations
of independent qualified actuaries. The plan has defined benefit and defined contribution sections. A defined
benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function
of one or more factors such as age, years of service, or compensation. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the Bank pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no
legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employce benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The asset or liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of the defined
benefit sections of the plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date minus
the fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains/losses and past
service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaties using the
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by the
estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of government securities that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability. The pension plan is a final salary plan and the charge,
representing the net periodic pension cost less employee contributions, is included in staff costs.
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Re-measurements, comprising where applicable of actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset ceiling,
excluding net interest and the return on plan assets (excluding net interest), are recognised immediately in
the statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or credit to reserves through Other
Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) in the period in which they occur. Re-measurements are not reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss on the earlier of:

» The date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and
e The date that the Bank recognises restructuring-related costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. The Bank
recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as part of staff costs in the consolidated
staterent of income:
¢ Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gains and losses on curtatlments
and non-routine settlements
¢ Net interest expense or income

For the defined contribution section of the plan, the Bank makes contributions to a private trustee-
administered fund, Once the contributions have been paid, the Bank has no further payment obligations.
The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are due and as such are
included in staff costs, The Bank’s contributions to the defined contribution section of the plan are charged
to the consolidated statement of income in the year to which they relate.

Other post-retiveiment obligations ‘
The Bank provides post-retirement healthcare benefits to its retirces. The entitlement to these benefits is
usually based on the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum
service period. The expected costs of these benefits are acerued over the period of employment, using a
methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans. These obligations are valued periodically by
independent qualified actuaries. '

Share capital

Share issue costs
Shares issued for cash are accounted for at the issue price less any transaction costs associated with the issue.
Shares issued as consideration for the purchase of assets, or a business, are recorded at the market price on
the date of issue.

Dividends on conunon shares
Dividends on common shares are recognised in equity in the period in which they are declared and applicable
regulatory approvals have been received.

Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to sharcholders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

33




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements -
For the year ended October 31, 2019
(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

Fiduciary activities

The Bank commonly acts as trustee and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of
assets on behalf of individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. These assets and
income arising thereon are excluded from these consolidated financial statements, as they are not assets of
the Bank.

Segment reporting

Business segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the person or group that allocates resources
to and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity, The Bank has determined the
Parent’s Senior Executive Team as its chief operating decision-maker.

Interest income is reported net within revenue as management primarily relies on net interest income as a
performance measure and not the gross income and expense.

All transactions between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis, with intra-segment
revenue and costs being eliminated on consolidation. Income and expenses directly associated with each
segment are included in determining business segment performance.

Fair value measurement

The Bank measures financial instruments, such as derivatives and FVOCI debt securitios, at fair value at
each balance sheet date. Also, fair values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed
in Note 27. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a kability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either:

e In the principal market for the asset or liability; or

e In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Bank.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market patticipants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data

are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

+  Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

+  Tevel 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

«  Tevel 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilitics that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Rank determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to comply with changes in presentation in the

current year.

2.5 Standards issucd but not yet effective

The standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the
Bank’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable,
when they become effective.

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Forn: of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires Jessees to account for all leases under a
single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard
includes two recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of “Jow-value’ assets (e.g., personal computers) and
short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). The Bank will make use of both
exemptions.

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use the undertying asset during the lease term {i.e., the
right-of-use asset). Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset, swhich will lead to a higher charge being recorded in
the income statement compared to IAS 17. Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon
the occurrence of certain events (¢.&., a change in the [ease term, a change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used ta determine those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the
amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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During 2019, the Bank performed a detailed impact assessment of IFRS 16 and will apply the modified
retrospective approach as permitted by the standard. The Bank will recognise a right-of-use asset at the date
of initial application for leases previously classified as an operating lease applying !AS 17. As permitted by
the standard, this amount will be equal to the lease liability, adjusted for any prepayments or accrued lease
payments relating to that lease. The lease liability will be measured at an amount equal to the outstanding
lease payments at the date of initial application, considering extension and termination options, discounted
at the Bank’s incremental borrowing rate in the economic environment of the lease. The capitalised right-
of-use asset will mainly consist of office property, namely the retail branches and some warehouses used for
storage.

In summary, the adoption of IFRS 16 is expected to have no impact on retained earnings, while the increase
in the risk-weighted assets (treated as 100% risk-weighted, consistently with the nature of the underlying
asset) is expected to consume $3 million of excess capital. The recognised right-of-use asset and lease
liability wilt both equal approximately $15 million.

Amendments to IERS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

Under IFRS 9, a debt instrument can be measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, provided that the contractual cash flows are ‘solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding’ (the SPPI criterion) and the instrument is held within the
appropriate business mode! for that classification. The amendments to IFRS 9 clarify that a financial asset
passes the SPPI criterion regardless of the event or circumstance that cauvses the early termination of the
contract and irrespective of which party'pays or receives reasonable compensation for the early termination
of the contract.

The amendments should be applied retrospectively and are effective from 1 January 2019, with earlier
application permitted. These amendments have no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
" Bank.

TIAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments to IAS 19 address the accounting when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement occurs
during a reporting period. The amendments specify that when a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement
occurs during the annual reporting period, an entity is required to:

« Determine current service cost for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement, using the actuarial assumptions used to remeasure the net defined benefit liability {asset)
reflecting the benefits offered under'the plan and the plan assets after that event

« Determine net interest for the remainder of the period after the plan amendment, curtailment or
settlement using: the net defined benefit liability (asset) reflecting the benefits offered under the plan
and the plan assets after that event; and the discount rate used to remeasure that net defined benefit
liability (asset).

The amendments also clarify that an entity first determines any past service cost, or a gain or loss on
settiement, without considering the effect of the asset ceiling. This amount is recognised in profit or loss.
An entity then determines the effect of the asset ceiling after the plan amendment, curtailment or settlement.
Any change in that effect, excluding amounts included in the net inferest, is recognised in other
comprehensive income,
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The amendments apply to plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements occurring on or after the beginning
of the first annual reporting period that begins on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted.
These amendments will apply only to any future plan amendments, curtailments, or settlements of the Bank.

Annual Improvements 2015 - 2017 Cycle
The improvements in this cycle include:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments clarify that, when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it applies
the requirements for a business combination achieved in stages, including re-measuring previously held
interests in the assets and liabilities of the joint operation at fair value. In doing so, the acquirer re-measures
its entire previously held interest in the joint operation. '

An entity applies those amendments to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application
permitted. These amendments will apply on future business combinations of the Bank.

1IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

A party that participates in, but does not have joint control of; a joint operation might obtain joint control of
the joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a business as defined in IFRS 3.
The amendments clarify that the previously held interests in that joint operation are not re-measured.

An entity applies those amendments to {ransactions in which it obtains joint control on or after the beginning
of the first annual reporting period beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with carly application permitted.
These amendments are currently not applicable to the Bank but may apply to future transactions.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs ,

The amendments clarify that an entity treats as part of general borrowings any borrowing originally made to
develop a qualifying asset when substantially all of the activities necessary to prepare that asset for its
intended use or sale are complete.

An entity applies those amendments to borrowing costs incurred on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments. An entity applies those amendments
for annual repotting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted. Since
the Bank’s current practice is in line with these amendments, the Bank does not expect any effect on its
consolidated financial statements.
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3. Cash and Balances with The Central Bank

2019 2018

$ S

Cash 38,075 42,144

Deposits with The Central Bank - non-interest bearing 121,414 123,969

Cash and balances with The Central Bank 159,489 166,113
Less: Mandatory reserve deposits with The Central Bank (54,219) (50,407)

Included in cash and cash equivalents, as per below 105,270 115,706

Mandatory reserve deposits with The Central Bank represent the Bank’s regulatory requirement to maintain
a percentage of deposit liabilities as cash or deposits with The Central Bank. These funds are not available
{0 finance the Bank’s day-to-day operations and, as such, are excluded from cash resources to arrive at cash
and cash equivalents.

Cash and balances with The Central Bank are non-interest bearing.

Cash and cash equivalents

2019 2018

) $

Cash and balances with The Central Bank, as per above 105,270 115,706
Due from banks, included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 407,735 178,486

513,005 494,192

4, Due from Banks

2019 2018
b by

Included in cash and cash equivalents (Note 3) 407,735 378,486
Greater than 90 days maturity from date of acquisition 26,250 31,511
Due from banks 433,985 409,997

Due from banks comprises deposit placements and include amounts placed with other FirstCaribbean
International Bank entities of $246,833 (2018: $281,160) and deposit placements with CIBC entities of
$40,589 (2018: $21,204) (Note 22). Placements with other FirstCaribbean International Bank entities
include amounts with FCIB Jamaica totalling $26,438 (2018: $26,461), which are pledged in favour of that
bank in support of loans granted to certain of its customers.

The average effective yield on deposit placements during the year was 2.14% (2018: 1.88%).
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5. Derivative Financial Instruments_

The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities,
together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s
underlying asset, reference rate, or index that is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are
measured.

Notional Amount Fair Values
Assets  Liabilities Assets Liabilities
$ 3 S 3
2019
Interest rate swaps 11,129 5,357 49 273
49 273
2018
Interest rate swaps 23,717 40,187 647 5,784
647 5,784

The Bank has positions in the following types of derivatives and they are measured at fair value through
profit or loss:

Interest rate swaps .
Interest rate swaps are contractual agreements betwveen two parties to exchange movements in interest rates.

Cash collateral pledged with counterparties that have one-way collateral posting arrangements total
$nil (2018: $5,261) and are included in Due from Banks (Note 4). During the year an interest rate swap was
terminated which was collateralised.

Derivative financial insfruments held or issued for hedging purposes
“As pait of its asset and Hability management, the Bank uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to
reduce its exposure to specified risks. Fair value hedges are used by the Bank to protect against changes in
the fair value of specific financial assets due to movements in interest rates. The financial assets hedged for
interest rate risk include fixed interest rate loans and FVOCI debt securities and are hedged by interest rate
swaps.

CIBC entities are counterparties to some of the Bank’s interest rate swap contracts (Note 22).
In 2019, the Bank recognised gains of $4,737 (2018: $nil) as a result of failed hedges, along with associated

fees of $4,704 (2018: $nil), which are included within operating income as part of net trading losses as these
derivatives are classified as trading derivatives upon failure.
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6. Other Assefs

2019 2018

3 $

Clearings and suspense : 12,591 9,129
Other accounts receivables (Nofe 22) 4,894 7,109
Prepayments and deferred items 2,195 2,019
19,680 18,257

TIncluded in other accounts receivables are balances due from other Parent Group entities amounting to $nil
(2018: $25) and the Bank's retirement benefit pension plan amounting to $2,994 (2018: $4,841), which
represents amounts paid to pensioners on the plan's behalf.

7. Securities

2019 2018
S Y
Securities measured at FVOCI
Equity sccurities - unquoted 219 219
Government debl securities
- Barbados 15,692 12,303
- Bahamas 484,116 342,783
- Other 49,846 21,838
Total government debt securitics 549,654 376,924
Other debt securities
Financial institutions 365,841 362,429
Non-financial institutions 13,032 37,062
Total other debt securitics ‘ 378,873 399,491
Total securitics measured at FYOCI 028,746 776,634
Add: Interest receivable 7 7,830 6,074
936,576 782,708
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Allowance for credit losses on securities

The table below provides a reconciliation of the opening balance to the closing balance of the ECL

allowances for debt securities measured at FVOCI:

2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Collective
and
Collective individual
Collective provision provision
provision 12 Iifetime lifetime
month ECL ECL ECL credit-
performing  performing impaired Total
3 $ 5 $
Balance, beginning of year 7,686 458 4,617 12,761
Originations net of repayments and other
derecoghnitions {52) . - (52)
Net remeasurement {416) 168 3,558 3,310
Credit loss (credit)/expense (468) 168 3,558 3,258
Other* ‘ - - (3,369) (3,369)
Balance, end of year 7,218 626 4,806 12,650

* Included in Other is the write off of basis adjustments on an ineffective hedge of $3,369 due to the Barbados

Government debt restructuring.

2018

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Collective

and

Collective individunal

Collective provision provision

provision 12 lifetime lifetime

month ECL ECL ECL credit-
performing  performing impaired Total
$ S $ 8
Balance, beginning of year 7,795 2,313 - 10,108

Originations net of repayments and other

derecognitions 363 (8) _ 355
Nef remeasurement {472) (1,847} 4,617 2,298
Credit loss (credif)/expense (109) (1,855) 4,617 2,653
Balance, end of year 7,686 . 458 4,617 12,761
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The average effective yield during the year on debt securitics and treasury bills was 3.23% (2018: 3.25%).
The Bank has a regulatory reserve requirement to maintain a percentage of deposit liabilities in cash or in
the form of certain government securities. At October 31, 2019, the reserve requirement amounted fo
$246,143 (2018: $209,009) of which $191,924 (2018: $158,602) is in the form of government securities and
$54,219 (2018: $50,407) is included within cash and balances with The Central Bank (Note 3).

The movement in debt instruments at FVOCI (excluding interest receivable) is summarised as follows:

2019 2018

$ S

Balance, beginning of year . 776,634 792,917

Additions (purchases and changes in fair value) 084,635 813,418
Disposals (sales and redemptions) (832,523) (829,701)

Balance, end of year : 928,746 776,634

43




FIRSTCARIBBEAN INTERNATIONAL BANK (BAHAMAS) LIMITED
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended October 31,2019

(Expressed in thousands of Bahamian dollars)

8. Loans and Advances to Customers

2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
b $ 3 5
Residential Mortgages*
Gross loans 787,787 119,898 74,339 082,024
Expected credit loss allowances 5,946 4,420 46,350 56,716
Net residential mortgages 781,841 115,478 27,989 925,308
Personal loans
Gross loans 176,554 11,348 15,713 203,615
Expected credit loss allowances 2,904 1,023 12,478 16,405
Net personal loans 173,650 10,325 3,235 187,210
Business & Government loans*
Gross loans 794,658 123,626 19,959 038,243
Expected credit loss allowances 11,157 3,540 12,244 26,941
Net business & government loans o 783,501 120,086 7,715 911,302
Total net loans 1,738,992 245,889 38,939 2,023,820
Add: Interest receivable 9,784
Less: Unearned fee income {9,950)
2,023,654
2018
Stage 1 Stage2 Stage 3 Total
A 5 5 $
Residential Mortgages
Gross loans 763,741 125,534 78,868 968,143
Expected credit loss allowances 5,065 10,799 51,220 67,084
Net residential mortgages 758,676 114,735 27,648 901,059
Personal loans ‘
Gross loans 181,058 12,912 16,371 210,341
Expected credit loss allowances - 2,803 717 12,868 16,448
Net personal loans 178,195 12,195 3,503 193,892
Business & Government loans
Gross loans : 795,474 122,038 15,139 932,651
Expected credit loss allowances 10,127 5,721 12,269 28,117
Net business & government loans 785,347 116,317 2,870 604,534
Total net loans 1,722,218 243,247 34,021 1,999,486
Add: Tnterest receivable 13,086
Less: Unearned fee income (117D
2,001,401
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2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Collective Collective Collective and
provision 12- provision individual
month ECL  lifetime ECL provision
performing  performing lifetime KECL
~ credit-
impaired
Tatal
3 3 $ $
Residential Mortgages®
Balance, beginning of year 5,065 10,799 51,220 67,084
Originations net of repayments and other
derecognitions 633 (207) (956) (530)
Changes in model 39 (3,652) (3,014) (6,627)
Net remeasurement (1,878) (2,761) 5,693 1,054
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL ' 2,430 (2,164) (266) -
- to lifetime ECL  non-credit-
impaired {343) 2,978 (2,635) -
- to lifetime BECL credit-impaired - (573) 573 -
Credit loss expense/{credit) 881 (6,379) {605) (6,103)
Write-offs - - (323) (323)
Recoveries - - 700 700
" Interest income on impaired loans - - (4,642) (4,642)
Balance, end of year © 5,946 4,420 46,350 56,716
Personal loans
Balance, beginning of year 2,863 717 12,868 16,448
Originations net of repayments and other
derecognitions 346 (60) (205) 81
Changes in model : 21 (114) 140 47
Net remeasurement (529) 147 2,808 2,426
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 365 (333) (32) -
- to  lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (154) 444 (290) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (3) 222 (214) -
Credit loss expense 41 306 2,207 2,554
Write-offs - - (2,456) (2,456)
Recoveries - - 1,338 1,338
Interest income on impaired loans - - (1,479) (1,479
Balance, end of year 2,904 1,023 12,478 16,405
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2019
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Collective and
individual
Collective Collective provision
provision 12- provision lifetime ECL
month ECI. lifetime ECL credit-
performing  performing impaired
Total
3 3 $ $
Business & government loans*
Balance, beginning of year 10,127 5,721 12,269 28,117
Originations net of repayments and other
derecognitions ' 3,107 (30) (498) 2,579
Changes in model (735) (1,164) (63) (1,962)
Net remeasurement (1,658) (658) 6,505 4,189
Transfers '
- to 12-month ECL 755 {647) (108) -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (434) 550 (116} -
- to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (5) {232) 237 -
Credit loss expense/{credit) 1,030 (2,181) 5,957 4,806
Write-offs - - (4,325) (4,325)
Recoveries - - 111 L1l
Interest income on impaired loans - - (1,768) {1,768)
Balance, end of year 11,157 1,540 12,244 26,941
Total Bank
Balance, beginning of year 18,055 17,237 76,357 111,649
Originations net of repayments and other
derecognitions 4,086 (297) {1,659} 2,130
Changes in model ‘ (675) (4,930) (2,937 (8,542)
Net remeasurement (4,065) (3,272) 15,006 7,669
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 3,550 (3,144) (406) -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (9310) 3,972 (3,041) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-impaired (13) {583) 596 -
Credit loss expense/(credit) 1,952 (8,254) 7,559 1,257
Write-offs - - (7,104} (7,104)
- Recoveries - - 2,149 2,149
Interest income on impaired loans - - {7,889} {7,889)
Balance, end of year 20,007 8,983 71,072 100,062
Total ECL allowance comprises: _
- Loans 18,633 8,811 71,072 08,516
- Undrawn credit facilities 1,374 172 - 1,546
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2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Collective
and
Collective individual
Collective provision provision
provision 12- lifetime lifetime ECL
month ECL ECL credit-
performing performing impaired Total
S 8 3 3
Residential Mortgages
Balance, beginning of year 6,814 11,615 67,734 86,163
Originations net of repayments
and other derecognitions . 339 89 (776) (348)
Changes in model (1,004) 155 3,718 2,865
Net remeasurement (2,620) (861) 1,193 (2,288)
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 1,859 (1,348) (511) -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired {304) 1,755 (1,451) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-
impaired (19) {606) 625 -
Credit loss (credit)/expense (1,749) {816) 2,798 233
Net write-offs - - (17,697) (17,697)
Interest income on impaired loans - - (1,615} (1,615)
Balance, end of year 5,065 10,799 51,220 67,084
Personal loans
Balance, beginning of year 3,539 421 13,830 17,790
Originations net of repayments
and other derecognitions 82 (55) (357) (330)
Changes in model (525) 504 46 25
Net remeasurement (213) 1 2,637 2,425
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 112 (63) {(44) -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (113) 261 (148) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-
impaired (19) (347) 366 -
Credit loss (credit)/expense ) (676) 296 2,500 2,120
Net write-offs - - (2,866) (2,866)
Interest income on impaired loans - - {596) (596)
Ralance, end of year 2,863 717 12,868 16,448
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2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Collective
and
Collective individual
Collective provision provision
provision 12- lifetime lifetime LCL
month ECL LECL credit-
performing performing impaired Total
3 3 $ 5
Business & Government loans
Balance, beginning of year 13,785 3,717 12,100 29,602
Originations net of repayments
and other derecognitions 30 218 217) 31
" Changes in model (2,578) (2,037 342 (4,273)
Net remeasurement (588) 3,324 8,585 11,321
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 656 {656) - -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (1,175) 1,199 (24) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-
impaired ' 3) (44) 47 -
Credit loss (credit)/expense (3,658) 2,004 8,733 7,079
Net write-offs - - (7,036) (7,036)
Interest income on impaired loans - - (1,528) (1,528)
Balance, end of year 10,127 5,721 12,269 28,117
Fotal Bank
Balance, beginning of year 24,138 15,753 93,664 133,555
Originations net of repayments
and other derecognitions 451 252 (1,350) (647)
Changes in model (4,107 (1,378) 4,106 (1,379)
Net remeasurement (3,421) 2,464 12,415 11,458
Transfers
- to 12-month ECL 2,627 (2,072) (555) -
- to lifetime ECL non-credit-
impaired (1,592) 3,215 (1,623) -
- to lifetime ECL credit-
impaired 41) {997) 1,038 -
Credit loss (credif)/expense (6,083) 1,484 14,031 9,432
Net write-offs - - (27,599) (27,599
Interest income on impaired loans - - (3,739) (3,739
Balance, end of year o 18,055 17,237 76,357 111,649
Total ECL allowance
comprises:
- Loans 16,876 16,934 76,357 110,167
- Undrawn credit facilitics 1,179 303 - 1,482
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Impaired Loans

2019 2018

Gross Stage 3 Net Gross Stage 3 Net

impaired allowance impaired impaired allowance impaired

b b 3 $ $ 5

Residential Mortgages* 74,339 46,350 27,989 78,868 - 51,220 27,648

Personal loans 15,713 12,478 3,235 16,371 12,868 3,503
Business & government

loans*® 19,959 12,244 7,715 15,139 12,269 2,870

Total impaired loans 110,011 71,072 38,939 110,378 76,357 34,021

The average interest yield during the year on loans and advances was 6.47% (2018: 6.29%). Impaired loans
as at October 31, 2019 amounted to $110,011 (2018: $110,378) and interest taken to income on impaired
loans during the year amounted to $440 (2018: $2,179).

Contractually past due but not impaired loans

This comprises loans where repayment of principal or payment of interest is contractually in arrears. The
following tables provide an aging analysis of the contractually past due loans:

2019

Business &

Residential Personal Government
Mortgages* Loans Loans* Total
3 $ $ $
Less than 30 days 45,494 71,977 4,046 ST,517
31 - 60 days 20,757 2,434 24,254 47,445
61 - 89 days 15,925 791 60,977 77,693
82,176 11,202 80,277 182,655
2018

Business &

Residential Personal Government
Mortgages Loans Loans Total
$ 5 $ 8§
Less than 30 days 45,677 5,839 5,808 57,414
31 - 60 days 27,374 2,238 8,560 38,172
61- 89 days . 24,479 7,879 1,390 33,748
97,530 15,956 15,848 129,334

*As at October 31, 2019, commercial mortgages were reclassified for presentation purposes from “Mortgages” to
“Business & Government loans”. As a result, the prior period amounts were reclassified accordingly.
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9. Property and Equipment

Equipment,
Land and Furniture Leasehold 2019
Buildings and Vehicles  Improvements Total
$ $ 3 b
Cost _
Balance, November 1, 2018 ' 22,486 53,425 17,366 93,277
Purchases 580 2,045 2,781 5,406
Net transfers/write-offs 265 21 (286) -
Balance, October 31,2019 23,331 55,491 19,861 98,683
Accumulated depreciation
Balance, November 1, 2018 8,713 39,717 15,269 63,699
Depreciation (Note 17) 732 4.074 {785) 4,021
Net transfers/write-ofts 418 (48) - 370
Balance, October 31,2019 9,863 43,743 14,484 68,000
Net book value, October 31, 2019 13,468 11,748 5,377 30,593
Equipment,
Land and Furniture Leasehold 2018
Buildings  and Vehicles  Improvements Total
3 $ b 3
Cost
Balance, November 1, 2017 21,191 48,171 17,750 87,112
Purchases 1,295 4,215 655 6,165
Net transfers - 1,039 (1,039) -
Balance, October 31,2018 22,486 53,425 17,366 093,277
Aceumulated depreciation
Balance, November 1, 2017 : 8,113 36,342 14,682 59,137
Depreciation (Nofte 17) 600 3,375 587 4,562
Balance, October 31, 2018 8,713 39,717 15,269 63,699
Net book value, October 31, 2018 13,773 13,708 2,097 29,578

Included as part of leasehold improvements is an amount for $3,187 (2018: $1,067) relating to systems
development costs and work in progress which is incomplete, not yet in operation and on which no

depreciation has been charged.
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10. Retirement Benefit Assets and Obligations

The Bank has an insured group health plan and a pension plan. The pension plan is a mixture of defined
benefit and defined contribution schemes.

Plan characteristics, funding and risks

The benefits that members receive at retirement under the defined contribution plan depend on their account
balances at retirement and the cost of purchasing an annuity. The total expense relating to the contributory
plan charged for the year was $446 (2018: $472), which represents contributions to the defined contribution
plan by the Bank at rates specified in the rules of the plan. Refer to Note 17.

The defined benefit pension plan is non-contributory and allows for additional voluntary contributions with

benefits dependent on either highest average annual pensionable earnings in the last ten years of membership
or highest inflation adjusted salary in any one of the last three years of membership. The defined benefit
plan is fully integrated with the benefits provided by local national insurance or social security schemes.
The insured health plan atlows for retirees to continue receiving health benefits during retirement. The plans
require contributions to separate funds, are administered independently and are valued by independent
actuaries every three years using the projected unit credit method.

Benefit changes _

There were no material changes to the terms of our defined benefit pension or post-retirement medical benefit
plans in 2019 or 2018.

Risks

The defined benefit pension and post-retirement medical benefit plans expose the Bank to actuarial risks,
such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, market (investment) risk and health care cost inflation
risk.

Plan governance

The Bank is responsible for the establishment of the plans and oversight of their administration. The Bank’s
Board of Directors has delegated powers and authorities to a Pension Steering Committee (“PSC”) as set out
tn its mandate to that committee. The PSC has established Management Commitiees (“MC”) and an
Tnvestment Sub-Committee (“ISC”) as advisory sub-committees and delegated to each of them certain of its
responsibilities in connection with the management and administration of the relevant plans and the
investment of plan assets. A separate irust fund has been established for each plan to receive and invest
contributions and pay benefits due under each plan. All benefits are calculated and paid out in accordance
with the rules of the pension plan. Funds are physically held by a trustee or trustees (whether corporate or
individual) as appointed in accordance with the Trust Deeds. Each year, the PSC with input from the 18C
and MC reviews the leve! of funding in the plans. Sucha review includes the asset-liability matching strategy
and jnvestment risk management policy. The PSC decides its contribution based on the results of this annual
review. The plan assets include significant investments in quoted equity shares and bonds.
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Changes in the present value of the obligations for defined benefit pension plans are as follows:

2019 2018
S $
Opening obligations (109,321) (106,357)
Interest costs (5,513) (5,455)
Current service costs (2,432) (2,455)
Benefits paid ' 3,357 3,800
Actuarial gains on obligations ' 2,233 1,146
Closing obligations _ (111,676) {109,321)

Changes in the present value of the obligations for post-retirement medical benefits are:

2019 2018
5 8
Opening obligations (10,515) (10,818)
Interest costs (524) {549)
Benefits paid 504 479
Actuarial gains on obligations 140 373
Closing obligations {10,395) (10,515)

The Bank expects to contribute $nil (2018: $nil) to its defined benefit pension plans in the following year as
the plans are on a contribution holiday. The Plan Actuary of the Bank has recommended a Defined Benefit
contribution holiday for three years during the last triennial valuation. The contribution holiday was expected
to fast for six years if the existing surplus was to be fully amortised, and this will be re-evaluated in the plans’
next triennial valuation.

The amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of income are as follows:

Defined Benefit Post-Retirement

Pension Plans Medical Bencfits

2019 2018 2019 2018

h $ h $

Current service costs ' 2,432 2,455 - -

Interest costs 5,513 5,455 524 - 549

Interest income on plan assets (6,373) (6,567) - -

Plan administration costs 202 168 - -
Total amount included in staff’ '

costs (Note 17) 1,774 1,511 524 549

Actual refurn on plan assets ' (13,042) (3,005) - -
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The net re-measurement gains recognised in other comprehensive income are as follows:

Defined Benefit Post-Retirement
Pension Plans Medical Benefits
2019 2018 2019 2018
$ s $ $
Actuarial (gains)/losses on defined .
benefit obligation arising fron:
- Financial assumptions (1,828) 1,629 9N 169
- Experience adjustments (405) (2,775) (45) (542)
Return on plan assets excluding interest
income (6,669) 3,562 2 -
Net re-measurement (gains)/losses
recognised in OCI (8,902) 2,416 (140) (373)

The movements in the net asset/(obligations) recognised on the consolidated statement of financial position
are as follows:

Defined Benefit Post-Retirement

Pension Plans Medical Benefits

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ b h 5

Balance, begimning of year 16,134 20,061 (10,515) {10,818)
Charge for the year (Note 17) (1,7714) (1,511) (524) (549)

Contributions by émployer - - 504 479

Effect on statement of other

comprehensive income 8,902 (2,416) 140 373

Balance, end of year 23,262 16,134 {10,395) (10,515)

The breakdown of the net asset/(obligations) between active members and inactive and retived members is
as follows:

Defined Benefit Post-Iietirement

Pension Plans Medical Benefits

2019 2018 2019 2018

$ s $ b

Active members 61,345 60,194 . -
Inactive and retired members 50,331 49,127 10,395 10,515
111,676 109,321 10,395 10,515
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The average duration of the net asset/(obligations) at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Defined Benefit Post-Retivement

Pension Plans Medical Benefits

2019 2018 2019 2018

Average duration, in years 20 20 15 15

The major categories of the plan assets and the actual fair value of total plan assets ($ in thousands and %)
are as follows (see Note 2.4).

2019 2018
$ % $ %

Quoted equity instruments

- International 1,168 1 899 1
Quoted debt

- Government bonds 1,768 1 1,679 1
Investment Funds

- U.S. Equity 64,909 48 59,763 48

- International Equity 28,860 2] 28,255 23

- Fixed Income 36,423 27 31,989 25
Other assets 1,804 2 2,870 2

134,938 100%0 125,455 100%

The overall expected rates of return on assefs are determined based on'the market prices, including published
brokers’ forecasts prevailing on the date of valuation, applicable to the period that the obligation is to be

settled.

The principal actuarial assumptions used at the reporting date are as follows:

Defined Benefit

Pension Plans

2019 2018

Discount rate (TCI, Bahamas) 3.1%, 5.6%  4.3%, 5.2%
Expected return on plan assets (TCI, Bahamas) 3.1%, 5.6% 4.3%,52%
Future salary increases 4.0% 4.0%
Future pension increases _ 2.5% 2.5%
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11. Goodwill

2019 2018
s $
Cost ,
Balance, beginning and end of year:- 187,747 187,747
Accumulated impairment :
Balance, beginning and end of year 115,000 115,000
Carrying amount, end of year 72,747 72,747

Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Bank’s cash-generating units (“CGUs”) identified according to country of

operation.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed annually for impairment and whenever there are events o
changes in circumstances which indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The goodwill
impairment test is performed by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which goodwill has been
allocated, with the carrying amount of the CGU including goodwill, with any deficiency recognised as
impairment to goodwill. The recoverable amount for each CGU has been determined using value-in-use
calculations that are estimated using five year cash flow projections along with an estimate of capital required
to support ongoing operations. The five year cash flow projections have been approved by FCIB’s Executive
Commiitee.

Based on the impairment testing performed during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019, we have determined that
the estimated recoverable amount of the CGU was in excess of the carrying amount. As a resulf, no
impairment charge was recognised during 2019.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations

A description of each assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections for the period
covered by the most recent forecasts is noted below. Key assumptions are those to which the CGU’s
recoverable amount is most sensitive, which include the discount and growth rates. The discount rates were
determined based on the following primary factors: (i) the risk-free rate, (ii) an equity risk premium, (iii)
beta adjustment to the equity risk premium based on a review of betas of comparable financial instifutions
in the region, and (iv) a country risk premium. The growth rates are based on management’s expectations of
real growth but do not exceed the long-term average growth rate for The Bahamas.

Discount rate Growth rate
2019 2018 2019 2018
Bahamas 14% 12% 2% 2%
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Estimation of the recoverable amount is an area of significant judgment. Reductions in the estimated
recoverable amount could arise from various factors, such as reductions in forecasted cash flows, an increase
in the assumed level of required capital and any adverse changes to the discount rate or the growth rate,
either in isolation or in any combination thereof, We estimated thata 10% reduction in forecasted cash flows,
or a 1% rise in the discount rate, would not significantly impact the CGUs’ recoverable amount to result in
any further goodwill impairment at October 31, 2019.

These sensitivities are indicative only and should be considered with caution, as the effect of the variation
in each assumption on the estimated recoverable amount is calculated in isolation without changing any
other assumptions. In practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in another, which may magnify,

counteract, or obfuscate the disclosed sensitivities.

12, Customer Depaosits

Payable Payable
Payable on after ata 2019 2018
Demand Notice  Fixed Date Total Total
S 3 S $ $
Individuals 273,530 327,330 407,807 1,008,667 932,104
Business and governinents 1,325,323 16,931 391,256 1,733,510 1,557,791
Banks 3,437 - 154,844 158,281 270,110
1,602,290 344,261 053,907 2,900,458 2,760,005
Add: Interest payable 175 32 3,077 3,284 2,765
1,602,465 344,293 956,984 2,003,742 2,762,770

These customer deposits are measured at amortised cost. Included in deposits from banks are deposits from
other Parent Group entities of $157,615 (2018: $267,947) (Note 22}.

The average effective rate of interest on deposits during the year was 0.46% (2018: 0.34%).
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13, Other Liabilities

2019 2018

$ 3
Accounts payable and accruals, including clearings 31,310 39,656
Ainounts due to related parties (Note 22) 28,639 25,768
Due to brokers and others 2,104 521
62,053 65,945

The amounts due to related parties refer to balances due to other Parent Group entities and are interest-free
and unsecured, with no fixed terms of repayment.

14, Issued Capital and Reserves

2019 2018
$ b
Issued capital, beginning and end of year 477,230 471,230
Reserves
Statutory reserve fund — Turks and Caicos [slands 55,620 49,091
Revaluation reserve — debt securities measured at FVOCI 7,876 (2,990)
Retirement benefit reserve 19,880 10,838
Reverse acquisition reserve (63,566) (03,5606)
Total reserves 19,810 (6,627)
Total issued capital and reserves 497,040 470,603

The Bank’s authorised capital is $20 million, comprising 150 million ordinary shares with a par value of
$0.10 each and 50 million preference shares also having a par value of $0.10 each. All issued ordinary
shares are fully paid. No preference shares were issued in 2019 and 2018, At October 31, 2019 and 2018,
the issued share capital was as follows:

Number of Share par Share
shares value premium Total
by $ h)
Ordinary shares, voting 120,216,204 12,022 465,208 477,230
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Capital

Objectives, policies and procedures
Capital strength provides protection for depositors and creditors and allows the Bank to undertake profitable

business opportunities as they arise.

The Bank’s objective is to employ a strong and efficient capital base. Capital is managed in accordance with
policies established by the Board of Directors (the “Board”). These policies relate to capital strength, capital
mix, dividends and return of capital, and the unconsolidated capital adequacy of regulated entities. Each
policy has associated guidelines and capital is monitored contimiousty for compliance.

There were no significant changes made in the objectives, policies and procedures during the year.

Regulatory requirements

The Bank’s regulatory capital requirements are determined in accordance with guidelines issued by The
Central Bank. These guidelines evolve from the framework of risk-based capital standards developed by
the RBasel Committee, Bank of International Settlement (BIS).

BIS standards require that banks maintain minimum Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios of 6% and 8%,
respectively. The Central Bank has established that Bahamian deposit-taking financial institutions maintain
Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios of 12.8% and 17%, respectively. During the year, the Bank has complied in
full with all of its regulatory capital requirements.

Regulatory capital _

Regulatory capital consists of Tier and Tier 2 Capital, less certain deductions. Tier 1 Capital is comprised
of common stock, retained earnings and non-controlling interest in consolidated subsidiaries, less goodwill
and other deductions. Tier 2 Capital principally comprises hybrid capital instruments such as subordinated
debt and general provisions and 45% of revaluation reserves on debt securities measured at FVOCL
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Tny 2019, Tier 1 and Total Capital ratios were 28% and 28%, respectively (2018: 25% and 25%, respectively).

The movements in reserves were as follows:

Statutory reserve fund — Turks and € aicos Islands

2019 2018

8 h

Balance, beginning of year 46,091 46,425
Transfers from retained earnings 6,529 2,666
Balance, end of year 55,620 49,001

In accordance with the TCI Banking (Amendment) Ordinance 2002 and the regulations of the Turks and
Caicos Islands Financial Services Commission, the Bank is required to maintain a statutory reserve fund of
not less than the amount of its assigned capital of $24 million. Where the required reserve is less than the
assigned capital, the Bank is required to annually transfer 25% of the net profits garned from its TCI
operations to this fund. Although the statutory reserve exceeds the assigned capital, it has been the Bank's
practice to make this transfer based on net profits of the preceding fiscal year with the remaining net profits
being retained by the Bank. During the year, the Bank transferred $6,529 (2018: $2,666) from retained
earnings to the statutory reserve fund.

Statutory loan loss reserve - Bahamas

Banking Regulations of The Central Bank of The Bahamas require a general provision in respect of the
performing loans of at least one percent of these loans. To the extent the inherent risk provision for loans
and advances to customers is less than this amount, a statutory loan loss reserve is established and the
required additional amount is to be appropriated from retained earnings, in accordance with IFRS. For the
year ended October 31, 2019, no statutory loan loss reserve was required as the general provision was
sufficient (2018: $nil). ‘

Revaluation reserve — debt securifies measured at FYOCI

2019 2018
$ 3

Balance, beginning of year (2,990) 1,174
Net gains/(losses) on debt securities measured at FEVOCI (Note 20) 10,866 (4,164)
Balance, end of year 7,876 (2,990)

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at fair value

are recognised in other comprehensive income and are reflected in the revaluation reserve.
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15, Net Interest Income

2019 2018
$ A
Interest and similar income
Cash and due from banks 8,857 6,265
Securities 28,076 24,822
Loans and advances to customniers 133,035 126,980
169,968 158,067
Interest and similar expense :
Banks and customers 13,041 9,171
Derivative financial instruments 131 860
13,172 10,031
Net interest income 156,796 148,036
16. Opcrating Income
2019 2018
b $
Fee and commission income 35,047 31,522
Foreign exchange commissions 13,197 11,697
~ Net foreign exchange revaluation losses (36) (33)
Net gains on disposal and redemption of securities (Vote 20) - 498
Net hedging (losses)/gains (Note 5) 29) 259
Net trading losses (585) (4,827
Other operating income 1,025 970
48,619 40,086

Net gains on disposal and redemption of securities have arisen from disposals of FVOCI debt securities.
Net hedging gains/(losses) have arisen from the difference between the changes in fair value of
hedged items in respect of the hedged risk against changes in fair value of the associated hedging

instruments,

Net trading losses have arisen from either disposals and/or changes in the fair value on trading securities and
derivatives held for trading, which include failed hedges.
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Analysis of fee and commission income:

17.

Underwriting
Deposit services
Credit services
Card services
Funds transfer
Other

Operating Expenses

Staff costs

Business licence

Occupancy and maintenance
Depreciation (Note 9)

Other operating expenses

Analysis of staff costs:

Wages and salaries
Pension costs:

_ defined benefit sections of the plan (Note 10)

- defined contribution section of the plan (Note 10)
Post-retirement medical benefits charge (Note 10)
Employee share purchase plan (Noie 21)

Severance
Insurance and risk benefits
Other staff related costs

2019 2018
$ 3
614 297
10,223 9,393
1,946 961
14,484 13,070
6,303 5,871
1,477 1,930
35,047 31,522
2019 2018
$ $
28,962 30,484
8,842 8,719
11,334 10,421
4,021 4,562
53,365 36,791
106,524 90,977
2019 2018
$ 3
21,681 23,248
1,774 1,511
446 477
524 549
145 152
94 263
2,657 2,844
1,641 1,445
28,962 30,484
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Analysis of other operating expenses:

2019 2018

$ 3

Professional and management fees 37,671 23,293
Communications 1,071 2,423
Business development 325 329
Advertising and marketing 177 267
Consumer related expenses 1,247 981
Non-credit losses 676 723
Postage, courier and stationery 1,935 1,842
General insurances 038 624
Qutside services 3,840 2,750
Other ‘ 4,876 3,559
53,365 36,791

Included in professional and management fees are allocation of costs from the Parent for support and
direction provided to the Bank (Note 22).

18. Earnings per Share

The following table shows the income and share data used in the basic earnings per share calculations:

Basic earnings per share

2019 2018

s . $

Net income attributable to shareholders 94,376 85,060
Weighted aﬁerage number of common shares in issue (Nofe /4) 120,216,204 120,216,204
Basic earnings per share (expressed in cents per share) , 78.5 70.8

There are no potentially dilutive instruments.
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19. Dividends
As at October 31, 2019, the Directors recommended for approval a regular quarterly dividend of $0.09 per
share and a special dividend of $0.42 per share, which are not reflected in these financial statements as they

are subject to requisite approvals from the Central Bank of The Bahamas. These bring the total dividends
recommended for 2019 to $0.78 per share (2018: $0.97).

20, Components of Other Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

2019 2018
by $
Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income:
Net income/{losses) arising during the year 10,866 (3,666)
Reclassification to the statement of income (Note 16) - (498)
10,866 (4,164)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (Nofte 14) 10,866 (4,164)

21. Other Employee Benefits

Employee share purchase plan

Under the Bank’s Employee Share Purchase Plan, qualifying employees can choose each year to have up to
10% of their eligible earnings withheld to purchase common shares in the Parent. The Bank matches 50%
of the employee’s contribution amount, up to a maximum contribution of 6% of eligible earnings, depending
upon length of service and job level. The Bank’s contributions vest after employees have two years of
continuous participation in the plan, and all subsequent contributions vest immediately. All contributions are
paid into a trust and used by the plan trustees to purchase common shares in the open market. The Bank’s
contributions are expensed as incurred and totalled $145 in 2019 (2018: $152) (Note 17).
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22, Related-Party Transactions and Balances
The Bank’s Parent and major shareholder is FirstCaribbe

A number of banking transactions are ©

Iecluded in Other liabilities is a dividend payable amounting to $6,863

The key related party balances and transactions included in the Bank’

below.

Directors and key

Asset balances:

Due from banks

Derivative financial
Instruments

Other assets

Loans and advances
to customers

Liability balances:
Derivative financial
Instruments
Customer deposits
Other liabilities

Revenue transactions:

Interest income

Other (loss)/income from
derivative relationship

Expense transactions:
Interest expense
Other expenses™

* Expenses incurred in relation to banking and support services.

Key management compensation

Salaries and short term benefits

management
personnel

2019 2018
$ $
3,326 5,408
2,266 5,135
118 244
23 7

Parent Group

2019
S

246,833

157,615
28,639

6,282

4,553
39,669

an International Bank Limited.

ntered into with related parties in the normal course of business.
(2018: $22,228) to the Bank’s Parent.
s financial statements are disclosed

Ultimate Parent

2018 2019 2018
$ $ $
281,160 40,589 21,204
- 34 648
25 - .
. 99 85
267,947 . .
25,768 ) ;
5,027 749 304
- (709) 411
2,436 ; .
22,262 ; ;
2019 2018
$ $
2,265 2,508
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Directoris’ remuneration

A listingjof the members of the Board of Directors is included within the Bank’s Annual Report. In 2019,
total remuneration for {he non-executive directors was $105 (2018: $105). The execufive directors’
remuneration is included under key management compensation.

23, Commitments, Guarantees and Contingent Liabilities
The Bank conducts business involving letters of credit, guaraniees, performance bonds and indemnities,

which are not reflected in the consolidated statement of financial position. At the reporting date, the
following contingent liabilities and commitments exist:

2019 2018

3 %

Letters of credit . 36,904 32,573
Undrawn foan commitments 303,846 235,323
Guarantees and indemnities . 12,697 11,745
Total (Note 27) ' 353,447 279,641

The Bank is the subject of legal actions arising in the normal course of business. Management considers
that the liability, if any, of these actions would not be material beyond what is already provided for in these
consolidated financial statements.

The Bank currently has a US$1 million line of credit with CIBC at LIBOR -+ 200bps per annum if 50% or
less utilisation, or LIBOR + 250bps per annum if greater than 50% utilisation. The facility is renewable
annually and expires on March 31, 2020. As of October 31, 2019, no advances were made from the facility
and all balances are undrawn.

24. Future Rental Commitments under Operating Leases

As at October 31, 2019, the Bank held leases on buildings for extended periods. The minimum future rental
commitments under these leases are as follows:

2019 2018

$ $
Not later than 1 year 2,778 3,244
Later than 1 year and less than 5 years 5,708 6,523
Later than 5 years : 1,115 1,705
9,601 11,472

During the year $3,293 (2018: $3,226) of lease payments was included in occupancy and maintenance
expenses {Note 17).
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25. Tiduciary Activities

The Bank provides custody and trustee discretionary investment management services to third parties. Those
assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not included in these consolidated financial statements. At the
reporting date, the Bank had investment assets under administration on behalf of third parties amounting to
$123,912 (2018: $121,392).

26. Business Segments

The Bank’s operations are organised into four segments: Retail, Business and International
Banking, Corporate and Investment Banking and Wealth Management, which are supported by the
functional units within the Administration segment. At the beginning of 2019, the Cards Issuing
and Merchant Services businesses were integrated into the Retail & Business Banking and
Corporate & Investment Banking businesses, respectively. The changes impacted the segment
results, and as such all prior period amounts were reclassified accordingly.

Retail, Business and International Banking (“RBB”)

Retail, Business and International Banking includes the Retail, Business Banking, International Banking and
Cards businesses. This segment provides a full range of financial products and services to individuals, which
can be accessed through our network of branches and ABMs, as well as through internet and telephone
banking channels, inclusive of our Mabile Banking App. Business Banking clients are provided with
products and services to satisfy their day to day operational and working capital business needs.
Internationa! Banking is a specialised business that facilitates leveraging of legislation and incentives in the
ihternational financial services jurisdictions to offer international clients a wide range of products, services
and financial solutions. Cards offering include both the issuing and acquiring business.

Corporate and Investment Banking (“CIB”)
Corporate and Investment Banking includes the Corporate Iending, Investment Banking and Client
$olutions Group businesses.
¢ Corporate Lending provides a full range of corporate and commercial banking services to large and
mid-sized corporate businesses, governments, financial institutions, international trading companies

and private wealth vehicles throughout the Caribbean.

o Investment Banking provides debt, equity, capital markets and corporate finance products and
services to large corporations, financial institutions and governments.

» Client Solutions Group provides derivative and other risk mitigating products to clients.
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Wealth Management (“WM”)
Wealth Management comprises International Corporate Banking, Investment Management and Private

Wealth Management businesses.

Wealth Management clients are provided investment advice and traditional banking services through a
relationship management offer.

International Corporate Banking is a specialised business that facilitates leveraging of legislation and
incentives in the international financial services jurisdictions to offer international clients a wide range of
products, services and financial solutions.

Administration (*Admin™)

The Administration segment includes Treasury, Finance, Human Resources, Technology & Operations, Risk
and other units which support the business segments. The Admin segment results include credits or capital
charges for Treasury market-based cost of funds on assets, liabilities and capital; the offset of the same for
RBB, CIB, and WM earnings unattributed capital remains in Admin.

Treasury is responsible for balance sheet and liquidity risk management for the Bank. Securities and cash
placements are normally held within the Treasury unit within the Administration segment.

Management monitors the operating results of its business segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Transfer prices between operating
segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with third parties. We review our
transfer pricing methodologies on an ongoing basis to ensure they reflect changing market environments and
industry practices.

Transactions between the business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Segment assets

and liabilities comprise operating assets and liabilities, being the majority of the statement of financial
position, but exclude goodwill,
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2019 Segment Reporting

RBB CIB WM Admin 2019
$ $ 3 $ 3

External revenue 71,957 53,790 (1,304) 32,353 156,796
Internal revenue (9,849) 7,782 . 14,868 (12,801) -
Net interest income : 62,108 61,572 13,564 19,552 156,796
Operating income 26,567 18,611 4,421 (980) 48,619

88,675 80,183 17,985 18,572 205,415
Depreciation 2,300 12 69 1,640 4,021
Operating expenses 23,925 4,469 2,720 71,389 102,503
Indirect expenses 25,970 30,845 17,624 (74,439 -
Credit loss expense on financial
assets : (224) 1,437 47 3,255 4,515
Net income for the year 36,704 43,420 (2,475) 16,727 94,376

Total assets and liabilities by segment are as follows:

RBB CIB WM Admin 2019
$ $ $ $ $
Segment assets 223,411 1,635,233 543,456 1,303,156 3,705,256

Segment liabilities 1,165,744 1,232,988 544,713 38,239 2,981,684
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2018 Segment Reporting

External revenue
Internal revenue

Net interest income

Operating income

Depreciation

Operating expenses

Indirect expenses

Credit loss expense on financiai

assets

Net income for the year

Total assets and liabilities by segment are as follows:

Segment assets
Segment liabilities

RBB CIB WM Admin 2018
S $ $ s b
69,490 51,701 (1,204) 28,049 148,036
{10,575) 5,483 11,992 (6,900) -
58,915 57,184 10,788 21,149 148,036
23,577 16,774 3,674 (3,939) 40,086
82,492 73,958 14,462 17,210 188,122
1,561 17 70 2,914 4,562
24,901 3,869 2,174 55,471 86,415
28,441 27,016 13,710 (69,167) -
8,120 1,202 110 2,653 12,085
19,469 41,854 {1,602) 25,339 85,060
RI3B C1B WM Admin 2018
$ b $ $ LN
467,039 1,330,512 589,900 1,112,176 3,499,627
1,103,345 995,560 591,282 156,872 2,847,059

Geographical segments are set out in Note 27 (B).
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27. Financial Risk Management

A, Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Bank’s activities but is managed through a process of ongoing identification,
measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls, This process of risk management is
critical to the Bank’s continuing profitability and each individual within the Bank is accountable for the risk
exposures relating to his or her respousibilities. The Bank is exposed to credit, liquidity, market and
operating risks.

By its nature, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the use of financial instruments. The Bank -

accepts deposits from customers at both fixed and floating rates and for various periods and seeks to earmn
above average interest margins by investing these funds in high quality assets. The Bank seeks to increase
these margins by consolidating short-term funds and lending for longer periods at higher rates whilst
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that might fall due.

The Bank also seeks to raise its interest margins by obfaining above average margins, net of provisions,
through lending to commercial and reta:l borrowers with a range of credit standing. The Bank also enters
into guarantees and other commitiments such as letters of credit and performance and other bonds.

B. Credit risk

Credit risk primarily arises from direct lending activities, as well as {rading, investment and hedging
activities, Credit risk is defined as the risk of financial loss due to a borrower or counterparty failing to meet
its obligations in accordance with agreed terms,

Process and control _

The Risk Management Team is resporsible for the provision of the Bank’s adjudication, oversight and
management of credit risk within its portfolios. The Credit Executive Committee (CrExCo) has
responsibility for monitoring credit metrics, providing direction on credit issues and making
recommendations on credit policy.

The Risk Management Team is guided by the Bank’s Delegation of Authority policy which is based on the
levels of exposure and risk. Credits above the discretion delegated to certain front line employees are
approved by Risk Management and where applicable by the Credit Committee and the Finance, Risk &
Conduct Review Committee of the Board (FRCRC). The FRCRC also has the responsibility for approving
credit policies and key risk limits, including portfolio limits, which are reviewed annually.

Credit risk limits

Credit limits are established for all loans (mortgages, personal, business & government) for the purposes of
diversification and managing concentration, Limits are also established for individual borrowers, groups of
related borrowers, industry sectors, country and geographic regions, and also for products and portfolios.
Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and the limits are subject to an annual or more frequent review,

The exposure to any one counterparty, including banks and brokers, is further restricted by sub-limits which
include exposures not recognised in the zonsolidated statement of financial position, and daily delivery risk
limits in relation to trading items such as forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against
limits are monitored daily.
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Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential
borrowers to meet interest and capital repayment obligations and by changing these lending limits where
appropriate. Fxposure to credit risk is also managed in part by obtaining coltateral including corporate and
personal guarantees. '

Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA)

A CVA is determined using the fair value based exposure we have on derivative contracts. We believe that
we have made appropriate fair value adjustments to date. The establishment of fair value adjustments
involves estimates that are based on accounting processes and judgments by management. We evaluate the
adequacy of the fair value adjustments on an ongoing basis. Market and economic conditions relating fo
derivative counterparties may change in the future, which could result in significant future losses. The CVA
is driven off market-observed credit spreads or proxy credit spreads and our assessment of the net
counterparty credit risk exposure. In assessing this exposure, we also take into account credit mitigants such
as collateral, master netting arrangements, and settlements through clearing houses.

Collateral

The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is
the taking of security for funds advanced, which is common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on
the acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation, The principal collateral types for
ioans and advances to customers are:

+ Mortgages over residential properties;
¢ Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory, accounts receivable and equipment; and
e Charges over financial instrumeats such as debt securities and equities.

The Bank’s credit risk management policies include requirements relating to collateral valuation and
management, including verification requirements and legal certainty, Vatuations are updated periodically,
depending upon the nature of the collateral. Management monitors the market value of collateral and requests
additional collateral in accordance with the underlying agreement during its periodic review of loan accounts
in arrears. Policies are in place to monitor the existence of undesirable concentration in the collateral
supporting the Bank’s credit exposure. i

As at October 31, 2019, 87% (2018: 87%) of stage 3 impaired loans were either fully or partially
collateralised. :
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Geographic distribution

The following table provides a distribution of gross drawn and undrawn loans and advances to customers,
which therefore excludes provisions for impairment, interest receivable and unearned fee income.

Gross Gross

Maximum Maximum

Exposure Exposure

Drawn Uandrawn 2019 Drawn  Undrawn 2018

S 3 $ 3 3 5

Bahamas 1,853,767 260,269 2,114,036 1,831,135 212,900 2,044,035
Tuwks & Caicos :

Islands 270,115 43,577 313,692 280,600 22,423 302,423

03,846 2,427,728 2,111,135 235,323 2,346,458

2,123,882 3

Exposures by industry groups

The following table provides an industry-
to customers, which therefore excludes
income.

wide break down of gross drawn and undrawn loans and advances
provisions for impairment, interest receivable and unearned fee

Gross Gross
Maximum Maximum
Exposure Exposure
Drawn Undrawn 2019 Drawn Undrawn 2018
$ $ 3 b 3 $
Agriculture 539 76 615 549 81 630
Construction 34,791 25,230 60,021 34,026 17,518 51,544
Distribution 60,538 33,248 99,786 08,443 22,994 121,437
Education - 60 60 287 60 347
Fishing 1,790 1,617 3,407 2,311 2,313 4,624
Governments 366,730 38,057 404,787 358,758 3,333 362,091
Health & social work 17,731 - 17,731 18,783 - 18,783 .
Hotels & restaurants 50,455 47,668 98,123 70,165 54,278 124,443
Individuals &
individual trusts 1,120,871 113,928 1,234,799 1,097,239 106,952 1,204,191
Manufacturing 26,475 609 27,084 22,238 386 22,624
Mining & Quarrying 50,000 - 50,000 - - -
Miscellaneous 270,103 27,642 297,745 276,788 23,394 300,182
Other financial )
corporations 3,194 1,053 4,247 9,498 996 10,494
Real estate, renting
& other business ‘
activities 69,198 4,764 73,962 84,583 2,149 86,732
Transport, storage &
communication 45,467 9,894 55,361 37,467 869 38,336
2,123,882 ° 303,846  2427,728 2,111,135 235,323 2,346,458
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Derivatives

The Bank maintains strict control limits on net open derivative positions, that is, the difference between
purchase and sale contracts, by both amount and term. At any one time, the amount subject to credit risk is
limited to the current fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Bank (i.e. assets), which in relation
to derivatives is only a small fraction of the contract or notional values used to express the volume of
instruments outstanding, This credit risk exposure is managed as patt of the overall lending limits with
customers, together with potential exposures from market movements. Collateral or other security is usually
obtained for credit risk exposures on these instruments.

Muster-netting arrangeinents

The Bank restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into master-netting arrangements with
counterpartics with whom it undertakes a significant volume of transactions. Master-netting arrangements
do not generally result in an offset of consolidated statement of financial position assets and liabilities as
transactions are usually settled on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favourable contracts
is reduced by a master-netting arrangement to the extent that if an event of default occurs, all amounts with
the counterparty are terminated and settled on a net bass. The Bank’s overall exposure to credit risk on
derivative instruments subject to master-netting arrangements can change substantially within a short period
since it is affected by each transaction subject to the arrangement.

Credit-related instruments _

The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make
payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk
as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on
behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up fo a stipulated amount under
specific terms and conditions, are collateralised by the underlying shipment of goods or appropriate assets

to which they relate and therefore carry fess risk than a direct borrowing.

Commitments to extend credit represent the unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees, or letters of credit. W ith respect to credit risk on commitments to cxtend eredit, the Bank
is potentiaily exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely
amount of loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to extend credit are
contingent upon customers maintaining specific credit standards. The Bank monitors the term of maturity
of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit risk than
shorter-term cominitments.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The following table shows the maximum exposure credit risk for the components of the consolidated
statement of financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation
through the use of master netting and collateral arrangements. Where financial instruments are recorded at
fair value, the amounts shown represent the current credit risk cxposure but not the maximum risk exposure
that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.
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Gross maximum exposure

2019 2018
$ 3
Balances with The Central Bank 121,414 123,969
Due from banks 433,985 409,997
Derivative financial instruments 49 647
Securities
—  Equity securities - unquoted 219 219
—  Government debt securitics 549,654 376,924
—  Other debt securities 378,873 399,491
— Interest receivable 7,830 6,074
Loans and advances to customers
— Mortgages 1,018,538 1,006,030
— Personal loans 203,615 210,342
— Business & Government loans 901,729 894,763
— Inferest receivable 9,784 13,086
Other assets 17,485 16,237
Total 3,643,175 3,457,779
Comimitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities (Note 23) 353,447 279,041
Total credit risk exposure 3,996,622 3,737,420
Geographical concentration
The following tables reflect additional geographical concentration information:
Commniitments,
gunarantees Non-
Total Total and contingent Lxternal Capital  current
assets liabilifies liabilities  revenue expenditure  assets®*
3 $ 5 $ $ 3
2019
Bahamas 3,125,957 2,503,219 306,083 161,647 4,675 96,983
Turks & Caicos .
Islands 999,365 898,531 47,364 43,768 731 6,357
4,125,322 3,401,750 353,447 205,415 5,406 103,340
Eliminations (420,066) (420,066) - - - -
3,705,256 2,981,684 353,447 205,415 5,406 103,340
* Capital expenditure is shown by geographical area in which the property and equipment are located.

*¥  Non-current assets relate only to property and equipment and goodwill.
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Commitments,
guarantees Non-
Total Total and contingent  External Capital current
asscfs liabilities liabilitics revenue expenditure® assets™*
b 8 h} $ b $
2018
Bahamas 3,051,314 2,493,286 253,829 150,736 4,289 95,763
Turks & Caicos
Islands 929,218 834,678 25,812 37,386 1,876 6,562
3,980,532 3,327,964 279,641 188,122 6,165 102,325
Eliminations (480,905) (480,905) - - - -
3,499,627 2,847,059 279,641 188,122 6,165 102,325
* Capital expenditure is shown by geographical area in which the property and equipment are located.

«%  Non-current assets relate only to property and equipment and goodwill.

The Bank operates in two main geographical areas between which its exposure to credit risk is concentrated.

Geographic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio were as follows:

2019 2019 2018 2018

3 % 5 %o

Bahamas 1,760,914 87 1,732,674 87
Turks & Caicos Islands 262,740 13 268,727 13
2,023,654 100 2,001,401 100

Tmpairment assessment
The references below show where the Bank’s impairment assessment and measurement approach is set out
in this report. This section should be read in conjunction with the Summary of significant accounting

policies.
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Definition of default and cure
The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for BCL
calculations in all cases when the borrower becomes 90 days past due on ifs contractual paymenis,

As part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Bank also considers a variety of
instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully considers
whether the event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for
ECL calculations, or whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include:

Tnternal rating of the borrower indicating default or near-default

« The borrower requesting emergency funding from the Bank

« The borrower having past due liabilities to public creditors or employees

« The borrower is deceased

+ A material decrease in the underlying collateral value where the recovery of the loan is expected from
the sale of the collateral

« A material decrease in the borrowet’s turnover or the loss of a major customer

» A covenant breach not waived by the Bank

The debtor (or any legal entity within the debtor’s group) filing for bankruptey application/protection

« Debtor’s listed debt or equity suspended at the primary exchange because of rumours or facts about

financial difficulties

It is the Bank’s policy to consider a financial instrument as ‘cured’ and therefore re-classified out of Stage 3
when none of the default criteria have been present for at least twelve consecutive months. The decision
whether to classify an asset as Stage 2 or Stage ] once cured depends on the obligor risk rating (ORR} if
available, or the days past due and delinquency criteria in the Bank’s policy, at the time of the cure, and
whether this indicates that there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition.

The Bank’s internal rating and PD estimation process

The Group’s Credit Risk Department operates the Bank’s internal rating models. The Bank monitors all
corporate facilities with a value exceeding $250,000 which are assigned an ORR of 1 to 9 under the Bank’s
internal rating system. The models used incorporate both qualitative i ad’cﬁfu\ll%ltive information and, in
addition to information specific to the borrower, utilises supplemen}z‘(e’:temal infOrmation that could affect
the borrower’s behaviour. This internal rating system is also mapped to Moody’s axi)Standard and Poor’s
ratings. Movement in a facility’s ORR from origination to the reporting date is what dgtermines the stage
assigned to that facility. Staging for facilities that do not have an ORR is based on historical days past due
and delinquency. The Bank calculates 12-month and lifetime PDs on a product by country basis. 12-month
PDs are determined using historical default data and then incorporate forward looking information. Lifetime

PDs are determined using historical data.

Treasury, trading and iiterbank relationships

The Bank’s treasury, {rading and interbank relationships and counterparties comprise financial services
institutions, banks, broker-dealers, exchanges and clearing-houses. For these relationships, the Bank’s credit
risk department analyses publicly available information such as financial information and other external
data, e.g., the rating of Moody’s and Standard and Poors, and assigns the internal rating, as shown in the
table below. :
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Corporate and small business lending

For corporate and investment banking loans, the borrowers are assessed by specialised credit risk employees
of the Bank. The credit risk assessment is based on a credit scoring model that takes mto account various
historical, cutrent and forward-looking information such as:

« Historical financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This
financial information includes realised and expected results, solvency ratios, liquidity ratios and any
other relevant ratios to measure the client’s financial performance. Some of these indicators are captured
in covenants with the clients and are, therefore, measured with greater attention.

» Any publicly available information on the clients from external parties. This includes external rating
grades issued by rating agencies, independent analyst reports, publicly traded bond or press releases and
articles.

» Any macro-cconomic or geopolitical information, e.g., GDP growth relevant for the specific industry
and geographical segments where the client operates.

« Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client’s management
relevant for the company’s performance.

The complexity and granularity of the rating techniques varies based on the exposure of the Bank and the
complexity and size of the customer. Some of the less complex small business loans are rated within the
Bank’s models for retail products.

Consumer lending and retail mortgages

Consumer lending comprises unsecured personal loans, credit cards and overdrafts. These products along
with retail mortzages and some of the less complex small business lending are rated by an automated
scorecard tool primarily driven by days past due. Other key inputs into the models are:

+ Consumer lending products: use of limits and volatility thereof, GDP growth, unemployment rates,
changes in personal income/salary levels based on records of current accounts, personal indebtedness
and expected interest repricing.

« Retail mortgages: GDP growth, unemployment rates, changes in personal income/salary levels based on
records of current accounts, personal indebtedness and expected interest repricing

Credit quality

For the retail portfolio, which includes residential mortgages and personal loans, the Bank’s assessment of
credit quality is in line with the IFRS 9 methodology for staging which is based on days past due and trends
to support significant increases in credit risk on a more forward looking basis. The frends are established in
order to avoid volatility in the movement of significant increases in credit risk.

For the business & government loans and securities, a mapping between the obligor risk rating grades used
by the Bank and the external agencies’ ratings is shown in the table below. As part of the Bank’s risk-rating
methodology, the risk assessed includes a review of external ratings of the obligor. The obligor rating
asscssment takes into consideration the Bank’s financial assessment of the obligor, the indusiry and the
economic environment of the country in which the obligor operates. In certain circumstances, where a
guarantee from a third party exists, both the obligor and the guarantor will be assessed.
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Loans and advances

to customers Securities

_ Standard & Poor’s  Moody’s Investor
Grade description Days past due equivalent Services
High grade 0-7 AAA to BBB- Aaa to Baa3
Standard 8-60 BB+ to B- Ba to B3
Substandard 61-89 CCCto CC Caalto C
Impaired . 90+ b C

This risk rating system is used for portfolio management, risk limit setting, product pricing and in the
determination of economic capital.

The effectiveness of the risk rating system and the parameters associated with the risk ratings are monitored
within Risk Management and are subject to an annual review.

At the reporting date, securities were all rated standard or high grade, with the exception of Barbados
Government securities which were classified as purchased originated credit impaired “POCI *in 2019, Cash
balances and amounts due from banks are held with counterparties that are high grade, including CIBC group
entities.

The table below shows the credit quality by class of asset for gross loans and advances to customers, based
on the risk rating, systems, trends and the methodology to support performing credits, along with significant
increases in credit risk. Amounts provided are before allowance for credit losses, and after credit risk
mitigation, valuation adjustments related to the financial guarantors and collateral on agreements.

High Sub- 2019
Grade Standard Standard Impaired Total
) S 3 $ $
Loans and advances tb customers

- Residential Mortgages 839,018 52,741 15,926 74,339 082,024
- Personal loans 177,411 9,699 792 15,713 203,615
- Business & Government loans 829,100 28,208 60,976 19,959 938,243
Total (Nofe 8) 1,845,529 90,648 77,694 110,011 2,123,882
. High Sub- 2018
Grade Standard Standard  Impaired Total
: $ $ $ 3 $

Loans and advances to customers &
- Residential Mortgages 804,003 60,793 24,479 78,868 968,143
- Personal loans 1?&79,896 6,195 7,879 16,371 210,341
- Business & Government loans 002,720 13,401 1,391 15,139 032,651
Total (Note &) 1,886,619 80,389 33,749 110,378 2,111,135
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For Business & Government loans, the Bank employs risk ratings in managing the credit portfolio. The
change in risk ratings compared to prior year is due to timing of payments and extensions. Business
borrowers with elevated default risk are monitored on our Early Warning List. Early Warning List
characteristics include borrowers exhibiting a significant decline in revenue, income, or cash flow or where
we have doubts as to the continuing viability of the business. Early Warning List customers are often, but
not always, also delinquent. As of October 31, 2019, Early Warning List customers in the medium to high
risk category amounted to $12,203 (2018: $33,357).

The Bank also applics a secondary qualitative method for triggering a significant increase in credit risk for
an asset which involves assessment of a customer’s historical days past due and delinquency pattern. If
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, the credit risk is deemed to have increased
significantly. When estimating ECLs on a collective basis for a group of similar assets, the Bank applies the
same principals for assessing whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since iitial
recognition.

At the beginning of the year, the Bank reassesses the key economic indicators used in its ECL models.

Model adjustments

The Bank considers the use and nature of material additional adjustments which are used to capture factors
not specifically embedded in the models used. While many adjustments are part of the normal modelling
process (e.g., to adjust PDs as defined for capital purposes to accounting requirements or to incorporate
forward-looking information), management may determine that additional, post-modelling adjustments are
needed to reflect macro-economic or other factors which are not adequately addressed by the current models,
such as management overlays for unexpected events, e.g. hurricanes. Such adjustments would result in an
increase or decrease in the overall ECLs.

Impact on regulatory capital

Annually, the base Capital Plan is assessed under a central stress scenario with ranges (mild recession &
severe recession) as part of stress testing. The results of the stress tests are taken into consideration when
setting the annual capital targets and may, by extension, have an effect on the quantum or timing of planned
capital initiatives. However, stress testing results that drive the capital ratio below threshold(s) do not
immediately imply an automatic increase in required capital, provided there is comfort that the Bank would
remain well-capitalized even under plausible stressed ranges.

Under each range within the recession scenario (mild & severe), the following key assumptions are varied
adversely/negatively to arrive at Capital Plan results:

i. Changes in GDP growth rates are assumed to directionally affect performing foan growth rates and fee
& commission income levels.

ii. Changes in interest rate are assumed to impact net interest income based on the proportion of hard vs.
soft currency balance split for interest earning and bearing assets and liabilities, namely cash placements,
secutities, loans and deposit liabilities.

iii. Changes in GDP growth rates are assumed to impact non-performing loans growth rates which in turn
affect interest income and loan loss expenses.
iv. Changes in inflation rates are assumed to directionally impact expense growth,
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The Bank meets regulatory ratio and policy liquidity metrics such as the Structural Liquidity Ratio and
Liquidity Horizon. The Bank anticipates that its regulators will continue implementation of the Net Stable
Funding Ratio and the Liquidity Coverage Ratio in the near future and is developing automated solutions
to calculate these ratios.

The Bank also monitors and reports to senior management its leverage ratio monthly with quarterly reporling
to the Board of Directors.

Modified financial assets

From time to time, the Bank may modify the contractual terms of loans classified as stage 2 and stage 3 for
which the borrower has experienced financial difficulties, through the granting of a concession in the form
of below-market rates or terms that we would not otherwise have considered. Changes to the present value
of the estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the modified loan discounted at the loan’s
original effective interest rate are recognised through changes in the BCL allowance and provision for credit
losses. During the year ended October 31, 2019, loans classified as stage 2 with an amortised cost of $6,681
(2018: $10,484) and loans classified as stage 3 with an amortised cost of $3,244 (2018: $1,063), in each case
before the time of modification, were modified through the granting of a financial concession in response to

- the borrower having experienced financial difficulties. In addition, the gross carrying amount of previously

modified stage 2 or stage 3 loans that have returned to stage 1 during the year ended October 31, 2019 was
$6,449 (2018: $22,632).

C. Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fiuctuate due to
the change in market variables. Market risk arises from positions in securities and derivatives as well as
from our core retail, wealth and corporate businesses. The key risks to the Bank are foreign exchange
(“FX), interest rate and credit spread. Market Risk within the Bank is a centralised group that is independent
from the front line. The following sections give a comprehensive review of the Bank’s entire exposures.

Policies and stemdards

The Parent Group has a comprehensive policy for market risk management related to the identification,
measurement, monitoring and control of market risks. This policy is reviewed and approved every two years
by the Finance, Risk and Conduct Review Committee (“FRCRC?) of the Parent Group’s Board. The Board
limits, which are approved annually, are used by the Bank to establish explicit risk tolerances expressed in
term of the three main risk measures mentioned below. There is a three-tiered approach to limits at the
Parent Group. The highest level is st at the Board. The second tier is delegated by the Chief Risk Officer
and the third tier to the Business Unit, which limits traders to specific products and size of deals. Trading
limits are documented through formal delegation letters and monitored using the Group’s trading system.

Process and control

Market risk measures are monitored with differing degrees of frequency, dependent upon the nature of the
risk. FX positions and certain profit and loss (P&L) measures are all measured daily, whereas others such
as stress tests and credit spread sensitivity are performed on a weekly or monthly basis. Detailed market
risk compliance reports are produced and circulated to senjor management on a monthly basis and a summaty
version supplied to the Board quarterly.
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Risk medasurement 7

The Bank has three main measures of market risk:
o Outright position, used predominantty for FX;
o Sensitivity to a | basis point move in a curve, used for both interest rate and credit spread risks; and
e Stress scenarios based upon a combination of theoretical situations and historical events.

Position

This risk measure is used predominantly for the Bank’s foreign exchange business. The measure, monitored
daily, focuses on the outright long or short position in each cutrency from either the spot or trading position
and on a structural basis. Any forward contracts or FX swaps are also incorporated.

Sensitivity

The main two measures utilised by the I'arent Group are the DVO1 (delta value of a | basis point move, also
known as the PV01 or present value of a 1 basis point move) and the CSDVOI (credit spread delta of a |
basis point move). The DV01 measure is calculated for a 1 basis point move down in the yield curve. This
generates the change in economic value by individual currency of a parallel shift down in the refated yield
curve. As curves rarely move in a paralizl fashion, it is measured across different tenors to ensure that there
s no further curve risk of having, for exsmple, a long position in the short end of the curve, offset by a short
position in the longer tenors. This is then utilised within the scenario analysis. The sensitivities are
calculated on a post-structural basis that includes structural assumptions for core balances of non-contractual
maturity positions. The CSDV(1 sensitivity is a way to measure the risk of the interest rate spread between
Treasury securities and the non-Treasury securities in the bond portfolio widening or narrowing,

Stress testing & scenario analysis .

Stress testing and scenario analysis are designed to add insight to possible outcomes of abnormal {or tail
event) market conditions and to highlight where risk concentrations could be a concern. The Parent Group
uses the following approaches which are as follows:

s For the hard currency testing, it utilises the suite of measures that the Ultimate Parent has developed.
The stress testing measures the effect on the hard currency port folio values over a wide range of extreme
moves in market prices. The stress testing methodology assumes no actions are taken or are able to be
taken during the event to mitigate {he risk, reflecting the decreased liquidity that frequently accompanies
market shocks. The scenario analysis approach for Parent Group’s hard currency exposures simulates
an impact on earnings of extreme market events up to a period of one quarter. Scenarios are developed
using actual historical data during periods of market distuption, or are based upon hypothetical
oceurrence of economic or political events or natural disasters and are designed by economists, business
leaders and risk managers. These tests are run on a monthly basis.

e The local currency stress tests are <designed on a similar but smaller scale. For inferest rate stresses,
Market Risk in conjunction with Treasury considers the market data over approximately the last 10 years
and identifies the greatest curve or data point moves over both sixty and single days. These are then
applied to the existing positions/sensitivities of the Parent Group. This is performed and reported on a
monthly basis as they do not tend to change rapidly.

e For foreign exchange stresses, the Parent Group considers what the effect of a currency coming off a
peg would have on the earnings of the Parent Group. This is largely judgmental, as it has happened so
infrequently in the region and it is supplemented by some historical reviews both within the region and
in other areas where pegged currency regimes have existed or do exist.
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Summary of key markei risks _

Of the market risks arising from the various currencies, yield curves and spreads throughout the regional and
broader international markets, the following risks are considered by management the most significant for the
Bank: (i) the risk of credit spreads widening in a similar fashion to the Credit Crisis of 2008 on bonds held
within the investment portfolios, and ii) the low probability, high impact of a peg breaking between the USD
and BSD, impacting the structural long position of the Bank. The largest interest rate risk run through
multiple scenarios is that if the USD yield curve moves in a similar fashion to a 60 day period during the
Subprime Crisis and Lehman Collapse. The following section highlights these key risks as well as some of

the Tesser ones that arise from the Bank’s ongoing banking operations.

Foreign exchange risk ’

Foreign exchange (or currency) risk is defined as the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. The local currency is pegged to the USD and
hence the Value at Risk (VaR) measure is not appropriate, and that is why more emphasis is put on the
overall position limit and related stress tests. The Board has set limits on positions by cwrrency. These
positions are monitored on a daily basis and the Forex & Derivatives Sales department are solely responsible
for the hedging of the Bank’s exposure.

The Bank also uses a measure to quantify non-trading foreign exchange risk, also referred to as structural
foreign exchange risk.

The following table highlights the Bank’s significant currency exposures. It also highlights the metrics used
by the Bank to measure, monitor, and control that risk.

2019 2018
Trading
Trading . Position
Position  Stressed  Average Short vs  Stressed  Average
Currency Short vs BSD - Loss Position® BSD Loss Position*
5. $ $ . $ 8 $
US dollars 7,655 2,296 (137) (1,512) (454) (637}

* Averages are taken over a twelve-month period.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk results from differences in the maturities or re-pricing dates of assets, both on and off the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Bank utilises a combination of high level Board limits to
monitor risk as well as the more granular Chief Risk Officer’s limits. The key interest risk measures are
shown in the table below highlighting the currency where the Bank has their most significant interest rate
exposures.

2019 2018
60 day 60 day
Stressed Stressed
Currency Loss Currency Loss
3 3 $ $
Baharnian doliar 13,638 1,120 19,211 1,378
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Credit spread risk

Credit spread exists as the benchmark curve and the reference asset curves either converge or diverge. The
Bank has two portfolios that have a material amount of credit spread risk. The risk is measured using an
estimated CSDVO1 and stress scenarios. The results of these are reported monthly fo senior management,

2019 2018
Credit Credit
Spread Stress Spread Stress
Notional DVl Loss Notional DVl Loss
$ 5 8 3 S $
Regional hard currency
bond portfolio 87,960 32 11,782 83,210 37 12,675
Non-regional hard currency
bond portfolio 334,500 59 12,076 359,500 76 15,584
Total 422,460 91 23,858 442,710 113 28,259

At the fiscal year end the weighted average rating of the positions in the Regional Hard Currency Portfolto
is BBB+. The average weighted maturity is 4 years. The weighted average rating of the positions in the Non-
Regional Hard Currency Portfolio is AA. The average weighted maturity is 2 years.

Derivatives held for assef and liability management (ALM) purposes

Where derivatives are held as hedges against either sizeable loans from core businesses or to reduce interest
risk exposure to USD denominated local bond issues and if the transactions meet the regulatory criteria, then
the Bank applies hedge accounting. Derivative hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment
are considered to be economic hedges and are recorded at market value on the consolidated statement of
financial position with changes in the fair value reflected through the consolidated statement of income. It
should be noted that these are only interest rate risk hedges and other risks such as credit spread on the
underlying still exist and are measured separately.
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Currency concentrations of assets, liabilities and commitments, guarantecs and contingent liabilities:

Assets

Cash and balances with The Central Bank

Due from banks

Derivative financial instruments

Other assets

Securities

Loans and advances to customers

Property and equipment

Retirement benefit assets
-Goodwill

Total assets

Liabilities

Derivative financial insttuments
Customer deposits

Other liabilities

Retirement benefit obligations

Total liabilities
Net assets

Commitments, guarantees and
contingent liabilities (Nofe 23)

2019

BAH us Other Total

S S 3 b
148,876 10,152 461 159,489
- 345,975 88,010 433,985

- 49 - 49

13,778 5,890 12 19,680
486,495 450,081 - 936,576
1,233,168 790,484 2 2,023,654
24,031 6,481 81 30,593
28,483 - - 28,483
71,582 1,165 - 72,747
2,006,413 1,610,277 88,566 3,705,256
- 273 - 273
1,492,394 1,322,178 89,170 2,903,742
(31,563) 99,422 (5,800) 62,053
8,694 6,922 - 15,616
1,469,525 1,428,795 83,364 2,981,684
536,888 181,482 5,202 723,572
161,348 187,449 4,650 353,447
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E. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Bank’s general funding activities in the course of managing asseis and liabilities. It
is the risk of having insufficient cash resources to meet current financial obligations without raising funds at
unfavourable rates or selling assets on a forced basis.

The Bank’s liquidity management strategies seek to maintain sufficient liquid financial resources to continually
fund the consolidated statement of financial position under both normal and stressed market environments.

Process and control

Actual and anticipated inflows and outflows of funds generated from exposures, including those not recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position, are managed on a daily basis within specific short-term
asset/liability mismatch limits by operational entity.

Potential cash flows under various stress scenarios are modelled using carrying amounts recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position. On a consolidated basis, prescribed liquidity levels under a selected
benchmark stress scenario are maintained for a minimum time horizon.

Risk measurement
The Bank’s liquidity measurement system provides daily liquidity risk exposure reports for monitoring and review .
by the Treasury department. The Bank’s Asset Liability Management Team (ALMT) is responsible for
recommending the liquidity ratio targets, the stress scenarios and the contingency funding plans. The Bank’s Board
is ultimately responsible for the Bank’s liquidity.

fThe Bank manages liquidity risk by maintaining a significant base of core customer deposits, liquid assets, and
access to contingent funding as part of its management Qﬁﬁs}gj_‘he Bank has internally established specific liquidity

‘requirements that are ap roved by the Parent Group’s\Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) gnd reviewed amually.
pp p e Yy
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The table below analyses the assets, liabilities and commitments, guarantees and contingent liabilities of the Bank

into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at reporting date to the contractual maturity date.

0-3 3-12 1-5 Over 5 2019
months months years years Total
3 3 $ $ $
Assets
Cash and balances with The Central Bank 159,489 - - - 159,489
Due from banks 433,985 - - - 433 985
Derivative financial instruments 3 14 32 - 49
Other assets 19,680 - - - 19,680
Securities 244,655 189,038 336,199 166,684 936,576
Loans and advances to customer's 214,810 457,108 59,765 1,291,971 2,023,654
Property and equipment 2,856 933 9,468 17,336 30,593
Retirement benefit assets - - - 28,483 28,483
Goodwill - - - 72,747 72,747
Total assets 1,075,478 647,003 405,464 1,577,221 3,705,256
Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments 264 9 - - 273
Customer deposits 2,467,106 22,728 411,674 2,234 2,903,742
Other liabilities 62,053 - . - 62,053
Retirement benefit obligations - - - 15,616 15,616
Total liabilities 2,529,423 22,737 411,674 17,850 2,081,684
Net assets/(liabilities) (1,453,945) 624,356 (6,210) 1,559,371 723.572
Commitments, guarantees and contingent .
liabilities (Nofe 23) 217,594 39,775 64,500 31,578 353,447
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F. Tair value of financial assets and liabilities

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, between
market participants in an orderly transaction in the principal market (or most advantageous market) at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e., the exit price). The determination of fair value requires
judgment and is based on market information, where available and appropriate. Fair value measurements are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy (Level 1, 2 or 3) based on the valuation inputs used in
measuring the fair value, as outlined below:

e Level 1 - Unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilitics we can access at
the measurement date. Bid prices, ask prices or prices within the bid and ask, which are the most representative
of the fair value, are used as appropriate to measure fair value. Fair value is best evidenced by an independent
quoted market price for the same instrument in an active market. An active market is one where transactions
are occurring with sufficient frequency and volume to provide quoted prices on an ongoing basis.

o Level 2 - Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in markets that are inactive or observable market quotes
for similar instruments, or use of valuation technique where all significant inputs are observable. Inactive
markets may be characterized by a significant decline in the volume and level of observed trading activity or
through large or erratic bid/offer spreads. In instances where traded markets do not exist or are not considered
sufficiently active, we measure fair value using valuation models.

s Level 3 - Non-observable or indicative prices or use of valuation technique where one or more significant inputs
are non-observable.
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The table below presents the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair values of financial instruments, that
are carried and disclosed at fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position, are categorised.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Total .

Valuation
technique- Valuation
observable  technique-non-
Quoted market market observable 2019 2018
price inputs market inputs $ $
Financial Assets
Cash and balances with The
Central Bank* 159,489 - - 159,489 166,113
Due from banks* 433_,985 - - 433,985 409,997
Derivative financial .
instruments - 49 - 49 647
Debt securities at FVOCI - 936,357 219 936,576 782,708
Loans and advances to
customers - - 2,019,713 2,019,713 1,998,556
Total financial assets 593,474 936,400 2,019,932 3,549,812 3,358,021
Financial Liabilities |
Derivative financial
instruments S 273 - 273 5,784
Customer deposits - - 2,906,707 2,906,707 | 2,760,776
Total financial liabilities - 273 2,906,707 2,906,980 2,766,560

*Financial assets with carrying values that approximate fair value.

Transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy are deemed to have occurred at the beginning of the year in
which the transfer occurred. Transfers betwveen levels can occur as a result of additional or new information -
regarding valuation inputs and changes in their observability. There were no transfers between levels in 2019 or
2018.
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Quantitative information about significant non-observable inputs
Valuation techniques using one or more non-observable inputs are used for a number of financial instruments. The
following table discloses the valuation techniques and quantitative information about the significant non-observable
inputs used in level 3 financial instruments:

As at October 31, 2019 Range of inputs
Amortised Fair Valuation Key non- Low High
cost Value technique observable inputs
S S
Loans and advances Market proxy or Market proxy or
to customers 2,023,654 | 2,019,713 | direct broker quote | direct broker quote 3.5% | [8.5%
Market proxy or Masket proxy or
Customer deposits 2,903,742 | 2,966,707 | direct broker quote | direct broker quote - 0.1%
Market proxy or Market proxy or
Equity sccurities 219 219 | direct broker quote | direct broker quote n/a n/a

These financial assets and liabilities are mostly carried at amortised cost and as such sensitivity analysis on the .
inter-relationships between significant non-observable inputs and the sensitivity of fair value to changes in those
inputs is not necessary.

Financial instruments recorded at fair value

The following is a description of the determ.ination of fair value for financial instruments which ave recorded at fair
value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Bank’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant
would make when valuing the instruments:

» Derivative financial instruments
Derivative products valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are interest rate swaps
and foreign exchange forward contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include forward
pricing and swap models, using present vaiue caleulations. The models incorporate various inputs including the
credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves,

-

Debt instraments at FVOCT

Debt instruments at FVOCI valued using a valuation technique or pricing models primarily consist of debt
securities, These assets are valued using models which sometimes only incorporate data observable in the
market and at other times use both observable and non-observable data. The non-observable inputs to the models
include assumptions about liquidity and price disclosure, counterparty credit spreads and sector specific risks.
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Fair value of financial instruments not carried at fair value
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial
instruments which are not already recorded at fair value in the consolidated financial statements,

* Loans and advances fo customers
Loans and advances to customers are stated net of expected credit loss allowances. The estimated fair value of
loans and advances to customers represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to
be received.

» Customer deposits
The estimated fair value of customer deposits is based on discounted cash flows using prevailing money
market interest rates for debts with sum[al credit risk and maturity.

Financial assets and liabilities with carrying values that approximate fair value

For financial assets and liabilities that are liquid or have a short-term maturity, it is assumed that the carrying
amounts approximate to their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits, savings accounts
without a specific maturity and variable rate financial instruments.

28. Principal Subsidiary Undertakings

- Name Country of incorporation
Sentry Insurance Brokers Ltd. The Bahamas
FirstCaribbean International (Bahamas) Nominees

Company Limited The Bahamas
FirstCaribbean International Land Holdings (TCI) Limited Turks & Caicos Islands

All subsidiaries are wholly owned.

29, Events After the Reporting Period

On November 8, 2019, CIBC signed an agleement to sell a significant portion of its majority stake in the Parent
Bank to GNB Financial Group Limited (“GNB”). Under the terms of the agreement, GNB will acquire 66.73% of
the shares from CIBC for total consideration of US$797 million, which represents a company valuation of
approximately US$1,195 million, subject- to closing adjustments to reflect certain changes in FirstCaribbean
International Bank Limited’s book value prior to closing, GNB is wholly owned by Starmites Corporation S.ar.L,
the financial holding company of the Gilinski Group. The Gilinski Group has banking operations in Colombia,

Peru, Paraguay, Panama, and Cayman Islands. Following the close of the transaction, CIBC will remain a 24.9%
minority shareholder of FirstCaribbean International Bank Limited.

There were no other events occurring after the reporting period that required adjustment to or disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements, except as indicated in Note 19,
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